

# STANDARD LEASING **TERMS AND CONDITIONS**













# **Contents**

Section 1.	Definitions	04
Section 2.	General Standard Terms and Conditions Applicable to All Leases	06
	Commencement, Expiry and Renewal	06
2.	The Rent	07
3.	The Premises	07
4.	The Landlord's Obligation	30
5.	The Tenant's Obligations	08
6.	Termination	17
	Consequences of termination	18
8.	General Provisions	18
Section 3.	Additional Standard Terms and Conditions Applicable to All Leases	
	of Warehouses, Offices, Food and Beverage (F&B) Outlets and Store Units	23
	Utilities	23
2.	Utilities and Telecom Services	23
3.	Hand Over and Repair at the End of the Lease Period	23
4.	Repairs and Defects	24
5.	Construction and Alterations	24
6.	Assignments and Subletting	25
	Reserved Car Parking	25
Section 4.	Additional F&B Standard Terms and Conditions	25

Section 5.	Additional Plot Standard Term and Conditions Applicable to All Leases	2
	of Plots of Land	26
	Open Areas and Landscaping	26
2.	Utilities	27
3.	Redecoration	27
4.	Hand Over and Repair at the End of the Leased Period	27
5.	Construction and Alterations	28
6.	Assignment and Subletting	29
	Rent Review	30
8.	Commencement of Operations	30
Section 6.	Additional Packages Standard Terms and Conditions	31
	Renewal	31
2.	Service Charge	31
3.	Payment of Total Rent	31
4.	Insurance	31
5.	Operation Commencement	32
6.	General	32
Section 7.	Service Charge Costs	33
	Office Units	33
1. 2.	Light Industrial Units (LIU)	33
	Eight industrial Offits (EIO)	
Section Q	VAT	22

## Standard Terms and Conditions

These Standard Terms and Conditions together with the Lease Agreement form the terms upon which Dubai Airport Freezone Authority (the "Landlord") leases the Premises to the Tenant specified in the Lease Details.

All references in these Standard Terms and Conditions shall be deemed to be references to both these Standard Terms and Conditions and the Lease Agreement which will be prepared and issued for signing by the Landlord. Where there is any conflict between the Standard Terms and Conditions and the Lease Agreement, the Lease Agreement shall prevail.

These Standard Terms and Conditions are divided into five sections:

- Section 1. Definitions:
- Section 2. General Standard Terms and Conditions applicable to all leases;
- Section 3. Additional Standard Terms and Conditions applicable to all leases of warehouses, offices, food and beverage (F&B) outlets and store units;
- Section 4. Additional F&B Standard Terms and Conditions applicable to all leases of food and beverage outlets in addition to the General Standard Terms and Conditions; and
- Section 5. Additional Plot Standard Terms and Conditions applicable to all leases of plots of land in addition to the General Standard Terms and Conditions.

## Section 1 - Definitions

The following terms as used in these Standard Terms and Conditions have the meanings ascribed to them. Other capitalised terms in these Standard Terms and Conditions which are not defined below have the meanings ascribed to them in the Lease Agreement:

"Building" means the building (if any) identified in the Lease Agreement, of which the Premises form part, and refers to each and every part of the Building, the parking lot(s), loading area(s), service road(s) and all other areas, the use and enjoyment of which is appurtenant to the Building, whether or not within the structure of the Building. In the case of a lease of a plot of land the definition of Building will be stated to be not applicable in the Lease Agreement,;

"Common Areas" those areas of the Building (whether or not within the structure of the Building) and Dubai Airport Freezone to be used in common by any of the Tenant, other tenants and occupiers of the Building and other premises in Dubai Airport Freezone, the Landlord, and those properly authorised or permitted by them so to do, and Common Areas includes, but without limitation, any atria, entrance halls, corridors, lobbies, staircases, lavatories, access ways, passages, elevators/lifts, escalators, courtyards, ramps, services areas and other such amenities, but excludes any such parts as may be within the Premises:

- "Community Rules" means any rules or regulations set down by the Landlord in relation to the operation of the Dubai Airport Freezone;
- "Dirhams or AED" means United Arab Emirates Dirhams, the lawful currency of the United Arab Emirates;
- "Dubai Airport Freezone" means the free zone within which the Premises are located known as Dubai Airport Freezone as established by Dubai Law No. (25) of 2009 as varied or amended from time to time:
- "Landlord" means the "Landlord" as set out in the Lease Agreement and includes any successors or assigns;
- "Lease" consists of the Lease Details and the Standard Terms and Conditions;
- "Lease Agreement" means the "Lease Agreement" signed by the Landlord and the Tenant.
- "Parties" means collectively, the Landlord and the Tenant and, where the context requires, their respective successors and assigns;
- "Premises" means the premises stated in the Lease Agreement and refers to each part of the Premises any and all improvements and additions made thereto, and all fixtures, fittings and appurtenances in the Premises, but in the case of leases of all types of premises other plots of land excludes the structural parts, load bearing framework, roof, foundations, joists and external walls, and machinery and plant within but not exclusively serving the Premises. In the case of leases of plots of land all the structural parts, load bearing framework, roof, foundations, joists and external wall, machinery and plant contained within or attached to any building or other structure erected on the Premises or exclusively serving the Premises will be included within the definition of the Premises:
- "Rent" means the Rent (not including any Service Charge) as set out in the Lease Agreement;
- "Relevant Authority" means any governmental or quasi governmental authority having jurisdiction over an issue in Dubai Airport Freezone:
- "Service Charge" means the Tenant's contribution (if any) to the general operational costs and expenses from time to time incurred or payable by the Landlord for the benefit of the Premises and the Common Areas payable during the Lease Period as set out in the Lease Agreement:
- "Standard Terms and Conditions" means these Standard Terms and Conditions
- "Telecom Services" means telephone, facsimile or other communication services;
- "Tenant" means the "Tenant" set out in the Lease Agreement and includes any permitted successors or assigns;
- "Total Rent" means the sum of the Rent and any Service Charge stated in the Lease Agreement payable during the Lease Period (and any extension of occupation pursuant to Clause 2 of Section 2 of these Standard Terms and Conditions);

"Utilities" means any electricity, water, chilled water and sewerage;

"Civil Charges" means any civil charges payable by the Tenant to the Landlord pursuant to this Lease Agreement.

"Completion of the Work" means completion of any works undertaken by the Tenant in accordance with all requirements of any Relevant Authority and to the satisfaction of the Landlord.

# Section 2 - General Standard Terms and Conditions applicable to all leases

#### 1. Commencement, Expiry and Renewal

The Lease Agreement shall come into force and effect on the Commencement Date and, subject to earlier notice under Clause 1.1 of this Section 2, shall automatically renew for a further term equal to the Lease Period from the Expiry Date. The terms of this renewal lease will be determined in accordance with Clauses 1.1. 1.2 and 1.4 of this Section 2.

- 1.1. Not less than six (6) months (in the case of leases of plots of land) or not less than three (3) months (for all other leases) prior to the Expiry Date, the Tenant shall notify the Landlord in writing if the Tenant does not wish to renew the Lease Agreement. Where the Tenant does not serve notice in writing on the Landlord its wish not to renew the Lease Agreement, then the provisions of Clause 1.2 of this Section 2 apply. Without prejudice to Clauses 1.2, 1.3 and 1.4 of this Section 2, if the Tenant fails or delays in serving notice of non-renewal, the Tenant shall (in addition to the actual Rent payable under the Lease) pay to the Landlord a penalty equal to: three (3) months' Rent.
- 1.2. Where the Tenant does not service written notice on the Landlord in accordance with Clause 1.1 of this Section 2 of its wish not to renew the Lease Agreement, the Lease Agreement will be renewed for a similar term on the same or different terms and conditions and at a rent to be agreed, subject to the rent for any additional term being in no event less than the Rent paid immediately prior to the Expiry Date. If the Parties cannot agree a rent for the renewal lease by the Expiry Date then the Tenant shall vacate and hand over the Premises to the Landlord as at the Expiry Date, in strict accordance with the requirements imposed by this Lease Agreement.
- 1.3. If the Tenant gives written notice to the Landlord that it does not wish to renew the Lease in accordance with Clause 1.2 of this Section 2, or if the Landlord gives notification to the Tenant that the Landlord does not wish to renew the Lease then the Tenant shall vacate and hand over the Premises to the Landlord as at the Expiry Date, in strict accordance with the requirements imposed by this Lease.
- 1.4. In the event that the Tenant does not give notice to the Landlord stating that it wishes not to renew the Lease and then fails to agree the new rent or terms and conditions as set out in Clause 1.3 of this Section 2 by the Expiry Date and/or where the Tenant remains in the Premises when the Landlord has advised that no renewal will take place, the Tenant agrees that (without prejudice to the Landlord's right to

require possession of the Premises or take any other lawful action) the Tenant shall pay to the Landlord compensation at a rate of one hundred and fifty percent (150%) of the Rent applying immediately prior to the Expiry Date together with the Service Charge due as detailed in the Lease Details and such sum shall be payable monthly in advance, the first payment due on the Expiry Date.

#### 2. The Rent

The Tenant shall pay to the Landlord during the Lease Period, the Total Rent in the manner and in the amounts described in the Lease Agreement and these Standard Terms and Conditions.

#### 3. The Premises

- 3.1. In consideration of the Total Rent to be paid and the duties and obligations to be performed and observed by the Tenant as provided in the Lease Agreement, and on the terms and subject to the conditions of the Lease Agreement, the Landlord agrees to lease to the Tenant, and the Tenant agrees to accept the Premises from the Landlord together with all the following easements and rights:
- 3.1.1 Full right and liberty in connection with the use and enjoyment of the Premises for the Tenant, its customers, contractors, suppliers, employees, invitees and licensees subject always to the terms and conditions of the Lease Agreement;
- 3.1.2 The right of passage of electricity, water, soil, drainage, air, smoke or other effluvia to and from the Premises through the gutters, pipes, sewers, drains, wires, telephone and telegraph cables, mains, gullies, channels, ducts, flues, conduits and watercourses (if any) passing along, through or over, upon or under the Premises;
- 3.1.3 The right of access over roadways and walkways at all times to the Premises;
- 3.1.4 All leasement, rights and privileges over and from the adjacent areas and buildings for the benefit of the use of the Premises.
- 3.2. The lease of the Premises by the Landlord to the Tenant is always subject to the following:
- 3.2.1 The Landlord having full right and liberty at all reasonable times during the Lease Period after giving reasonable written notice to the Tenant (except in the case of an emergency where no notice is required and access may be at all times) to enter upon the Premises with or without appliances and workmen and others for the following reasons:
- (i) to view the state and condition of the Premises and to repair and maintain and clean, alter, renew, remove or install such gutters, pipes, sewers, drains, wires, conduits, ducts, flues and watercourses (if any) serving the Building or any other part of Dubai Airport Freezone;
- (ii) to alter, maintain or repair the Building or any other part of Dubai Airport Freezone;

- (iii) to comply with an obligation to any third party having legal rights over the Building, the Premises and any other part of Dubai Airport Freezone;
- (iv) in exercise of a right or to comply with an obligation of repair, maintenance or renewal under this Lease Agreement;
- (v) in connection with the development of the remainder of the Building or any other part of Dubai Airport Freezone, including the right to build on or into or in prolongation of any boundary wall of the Premises: and
- (vi) in connection with the easements and other rights referred to in Clause 3.2.5 and 3.2.6 (inclusive) of this Section 2.
- 3.2.2 The rights in Clause 3.2.1(i) to (vi) (inclusive) of this Section 2 being exercised in such a way so as to ensure that inconvenience is limited in so far as is practicable and that access to the Premises is not in so far as is practicable unduly obstructed but shall otherwise be exercised without payment of compensation for any nuisance, annoyance, inconvenience or damage caused to the Tenant, subject to the Landlord (or other person so entering) exercising the right in a reasonable manner and making good any damage caused to the Premises without unreasonable delay:
- 3.2.3 The Landlord having the absolute right to exercise any powers that may be granted to it by federal and local laws and regulations:
- 3.2.4 The Landlord having full right and interest in and to the free and uninterrupted passage of Utilities and Telecom Services and any other service or supply through any pipes or cables now or hereafter existing in, under or upon the Premises:
- 3.2.5 The Landlord having full right, title and interest in and to existing pipelines, utility lines, equipment, fixtures and other property which are located in, under, upon or over the Premises together with easements and rights of way in, upon, across, over and under those portions of the Premises on which these pipelines, utility lines, equipment, fixtures and other property are located, for the purpose of their maintenance, operation, repair, replacement, construction and use;
- 3.2.6 The Landlord having easement and right of way upon, over, under, across and in the Premises and the easements for the purposes of exercising any and all of the Landlord's rights and performing any of the Landlord's obligations under the Lease Agreement.

#### 4. The Landlord's Obligations

Subject to the Tenant paying the Total Rent and other sums hereby reserved in the manner and at the times required under the Lease Agreement and performing and observing the obligations and conditions on the part of the Tenant to be observed and performed for the duration of the Lease Period, the Landlord agrees with the Tenant as follows:

#### 4.1. Quiet Enjoyment

The Landlord shall permit the Tenant to peaceably hold and quietly enjoy the Premises for the duration of the Lease Period:

## 4.2. The Landlord's Insurance Obligations

The Landlord shall at its own cost obtain and maintain throughout the Lease Period insurance for the following and such other risks as the Landlord may otherwise determine from time to time:

- 4.2.1 All Risks Insurance to cover the Building (excluding the Premises, the property of the Tenant in the Premises and those parts of the Building occupied by other tenants) and the Common Areas; and
- 4.2.2 Third Party Liability Insurance; and
- 4.2.3 Where the Landlord or the Landlord's agents or contractors carry out any construction work on the Building, Contractor's All Risk Insurance and Workers' Compensation Insurance in compliance with statutory and regulatory requirements

## 4.3 Maintenance and Repair

The Landlord shall keep the structure and exterior of the Building, the Landlord's fixtures and fittings and the Common Areas clean and in good repair and condition (fair wear and tear accepted).

## 5. The Tenant's Obligations

For the duration of the Lease Period, subject to earlier termination, the Tenant agrees with the Landlord as follows:

#### 5.1. Payment of Total Rent

- 5.1.1 The Tenant shall pay the Total Rent reserved by the Lease Agreement free from any deductions and rights of set-off whatsoever, at the times and as set out in the Lease Agreement.
- 5.1.2 The Tenant shall pay any and all other amounts payable to the Landlord, if any, under the Lease at the times and in the manner specified in relation to each such item.

## 5.2. Late Payment and Fees

5.2.1 If any part of the Total Rent and/or other monies payable under this Lease remains unpaid for a period of thirty (30) days after the date that they became due for payment, then in addition to that part of the Total Rent and/or other monies that remain unpaid, the Tenant shall pay to the Landlord the sum of three thousand dirhams (AED 3,000) for each month the Tenant has failed to make payment of the Total Rent and/or other monies (the "Compensation").

- 5.2.2 The Tenant shall pay compensation for any period during which the Landlord properly refuses to accept the tender of payment because of an unremedied breach of an obligation under the Lease Agreement by the Tenant.
- 5.2.3 If any cheque provided by the Tenant to the Landlord in payment of the Total Rent or any other amount due under this Lease Agreement is returned by the Landlord's bank due to lack of sufficient funds, a "stop payment", or any other reason, the Tenant will be required to pay the Landlord a returned cheque charge of AED 1,000 on each occasion.

#### 5.3 Licences and Approvals

- 5.3.1 The Tenant shall obtain, pay for and maintain throughout the Lease Period, its trade license or any other trade license or other approval required by the Relevant Authorities permit the Tenant to undertake the Permitted Use or activities in the Premises and in Dubai Airport Freezone and shall pay and discharge all rates, taxes, assessments, duties and charges assessed or imposed upon or payable by the Landlord or the Tenant in respect of the Premises.
- 5.3.2 The Tenant acknowledges and agrees that the Landlord bares no responsibility for the Tenant obtaining or maintaining its trade license or obtaining any other trade license or approval.

## 5.4. Maintenance and Repair

The Tenant shall well and substantially repair, maintain and clean the Premises and all the Tenant's fixtures and fittings therein and keep the same in good and substantial repair, maintained and in clean condition throughout the Lease Period in compliance with all health, safety, environmental and safety regulations and shall promptly replace at its own cost any Tenant's fixtures or fittings which become worn out, lost, unfit for use or destroyed by substituting other fixtures or fittings of a like or more modern nature and of a quality at least as good as those being replaced. The Tenant will also ensure that all windows in the Premises are cleaned at least once a month and more frequently where necessary.

#### 5.5. Decorations and fit outs

5.5.1 Subject to any requirements set down in the approvals of any Relevant Authority (where required), the Tenant, at the Tenant's expense, shall (subject to the Landlord providing its written consent following the provision of all relevant documentation including, but not limited to, relevant work contracts, detail designs, drawings, written plans, specifications and schedules as required by the Landlord), have the right to fit out, remodel, redecorate and make additions, improvements and replacements of and to allor any part of the Premises from time to time as the Tenant may deem desirable, provided the same are made in a workmanlike manner and utilising good quality materials. The Tenant shall have the right to place tand install personal property, trade fixtures, equipment and other temporary installation in and upon the Premises, and fasten the same to the Premises.

- 5.5.2 All such works as described in Clause 5.5.1 of this Section 2 shall be undertaken in accordance with any rules and guidelines set down by the Landlord and/or any Relevant Authority. These rules and guidelines may, without limitation, include requirements to carry out all and certain such works outside the usual working hours of the Building or of neighbouring plots within Dubai Airport Freezone so as to minimise nuisance and disruption caused to neighbouring occupiers.
- 5.5.3 In respect of all works in the Premises, the Tenant shall ensure that the Common Areas are kept clean, tidy and clear of obstructions at all times and that promptly upon completion of such works, all debris, waste and other refuse is removed from the Building in accordance with the instructions of the Landlord.
- 5.5.4 The Tenant shall at all times keep the interior of the Premises, where visible from the exterior of the Premises, attractively laid out and furnished and keep the windows of the Premises clean and adequately and attractively dressed to the reasonable satisfaction of the Landlord, so as to be suitably neat, tidy and of a high qualify expected in Dubai Airport Freezone.

#### 5.6. Insurance

- 5.6.1 The Tenant shall, at its own cost, obtain and maintain throughout the Lease Period insurance for such amounts, on such terms and with such an insurer that is in all ways satisfactory to the Landlord for the following risks and such other risks as the Landlord may otherwise determine from time to time:
- (i) All Risks Insurance to cover the Premises and all of the Tenant's assets contained therein at replacement value from the date of loss of use of the Premises until re- establishment of the Tenant's occupancy; and
- (ii) Third Party Liability Insurance in the joint names of the Landlord and the Tenant; and
- (iii) Where the Tenant or the Tenant's agents or contractors conducts any work on the Premises, Contractor's All Risks Insurance and Worker's Compensation Insurance in the joint names of the Landlord and the Tenant in compliance with statutory and regulatory requirements.
- If these above insurances are not obtained and maintained then for the avoidance of doubt the Tenant will be solely responsible for the lack of cover during the uncovered period.
- 5.6.2 The Tenant shall supply copies of such insurance policies and evidence of payment of premiums to the Landlord upon request by the Landlord and in the case of registration of the Tenant for licensing purposes the Tenant will be required to produce the originals of such insurance policies and PROVIDED ALWAYS that if the Tenant shall fail to insure or keep insured the Premises as aforesaid, the Landlord shall be entitled so to do on behalf of the Tenant and recover the cost of such insurance from the Tenant.

5.6.3 The Tenant agrees to use all insurance proceeds it receives in the event of damage or destruction to the Premises as soon as reasonably practicable in rebuilding or reinstating the Premises as far as reasonably practicable to the same or reasonably equivalent standard as before such damage or destruction.

## 5.7. The Landlord's Right of Inspection and Right to Repair

If any breach of any obligation under the Lease Agreement, defects, disrepair, removal of fixtures or unauthorised alterations or additions are found on inspection of the Premises pursuant to the Landlord's rights of inspection under Clause 3.2.1 of this Section 2. Then, on notice from the Landlord, the Tenant shall execute to the reasonable satisfaction of the Landlord, all repairs, works, replacements or removals required within one (1) month (or sooner, if necessary) after the receipt of such notice. If the Tenant fails to comply with any such notice, the Landlord may itself or by its workers, employees or agents enter the Premises and execute all necessary or desirable repairs, works, replacements or removals. The Tenant shall pay to the Landlord on demand all expenses so incurred.

#### 5.8. Permitted Use

- 5.8.1 The Tenant shall not use the Premises other than for the purposes of the Permitted Use as stated in the Lease Agreement. The Landlord shall not be in any way responsible for informing the Tenant of any such requirements and the same shall be the Tenant's full responsibility
- 5.8.2 The Tenant shall conduct its business in the Premises in a professional manner, with proper decorum and to the highest ethical standards befitting the international standards set by the Landlord for its activities, and shall upon receipt of any notice from the Landlord so to do, promptly cease any practice or conduct that the Landlord reasonably deems to be inappropriate or improper in the Premises.
- 5.8.3 The Tenant shall ensure that its employees shall at all times while in the Premises be cleanly and neatly dressed and shall conduct themselves in a professional and businesslike manner.

#### 5.9. Restrictions On the Use of the Premises

- 5.9.1 The Tenant shall not
- (i) erect or install on the Premises any engine, furnace, plant or machinery which causes noise, fumes or vibration which can be heard, smelled or felt outside the Premises;
- (ii) store on the Premises any petrol or other inflammable, explosive or combustible substance:
- (iii) dispose of any industrial waste unless done so properly and without harm to the environment in accordance with any rules and regulations issued by the Landlord from time to time;
- (iv) keep or allow any narcotics, drugs, alcoholic or similar substances on the Premises;

- (v) allow the use of any pantry or kitchen areas for the preparation or cooking of food (provided that if the Permitted Use of the Premises as specified in the Lease Agreement is for food and beverage use then the Premises may be used for the preparation and cooking of food):
- (vi) allow the Premises to be used for the storage of boxes, supplies and other materials regardless of whether they are related to or significant to the Permitted Use (provided that if the Permitted Use of the Premises as specified in the Lease Agreement is for a storage unit then storage of these items will be permitted);
- (vii) tamper with or abuse any fire protection systems in the Building including without limitation any smoke detectors, fire fighting appliances and fire alarm manual call points;
- (viii) use any fire hazards in the Premises including without limitation candles and incense burners;
- (ix) use the Premises for any noxious, noisy or offensive trade or business nor for any illegal or immoral act or purpose;
- (x) exceed any speed limits imposed by the Landlord or any Relevant Authority when driving within Dubai Airport Freezone or fail to give way to pedestrians;
- (xi) do anything on the Premises, which may be or grow to be a nuisance, annoyance, disturbance, inconvenience or damage to the Landlord or its other tenants of the Building, or to the owners, tenants and occupiers of adjoining and neighbouring properties in Dubai Airport Freezone;
- (xii) load or use the floors, walls, ceilings, or structure of the Premises and/or the Building so as to cause strain, damage or interference with the structural parts, load bearing framework, roof, foundations, joists and external walls of the Premises and/or Building:
- (xiii) overload the elevators/lifts, electrical installations or gutters, pipes, sewers, drains, wires, telephone and telegraph cables, mains, gullies, channels, ducts, flues, conduits and watercourses (if any) in the Premises, the Building and/or any other part of Dubai Airport Freezone:
- (xiv) do or omit to do anything which may interfere with or which imposes an additional loading on any ventilation, heating, air conditioning or other plant or machinery serving the Building, the Premises and/or any other part of Dubai Airport Freezone;
- (xv) allow any person to sleep in the Premises nor to use the Premises for residential purposes;
- (xvi) at any time place in the Common Areas any goods, pallets, trade empties, rubbish or other obstruction;
- (xvii) place, leave or install any articles, merchandise, goods or other objects in front of the Premises, the Building or any where else outside the Premises;
- (xviii) allow employees of others to smoke within the Premises or anywhere else within Dubai Airport Freezone other than designated smoking areas;

(xix) change the locks to the Premises because all changing of locks will be undertaken solely by the Landlord; and (xx) fixing any surveillance cameras whether inside an office, at the entrance or on the exterior of the Premises

## 5.10. Advertisements and Signs

- 5.10.1 The Tenant shall not without the prior written consent of the Landlord (which may be withheld in the Landlord's absolute discretion) place or display on the exterior of the Premises or the Building, or place on the windows or inside the Premises so as to be visible from the exterior of the Premises, any name, writing, notice, sign, illuminated sign, display of lights, placard, poster sticker or advertisement other than:
- (i) Such notices as the Landlord may in its sole discretion approve in writing; and
- (ii) The name of the Tenant on or near the entrance doors of the Premises in a style and manner approved or required by the Landlord.
- 5.10.2 The Landlord may offer the Tenant the option to display signage in such other locations as the Landlord may from time to time designate within Dubai Airport Freezone. If the Tenant elects to accept the Landlord's offer to display signage in such locations then the Tenant will be required to pay an additional fee to the Landlord at a rate determined from time to time by the Landlord.

## 5.11. Loading and Deliveries

- 5.11.1 The Tenant shall not load or unload vehicles except in the servicing areas or loading bays provided for such purpose.
- 5.11.2 The Tenant shall not cause any obstruction in or around the Building and the remainder of Dubai Airport Freezone.

#### 5.12. Pest Control

The Tenant shall at its expense and to the satisfaction of the Landlord undertake all necessary precautions to ensure that the Premises remains at all times free of rodents, insects, vermin, pests and other animals, and disease and shall, if necessary or instructed so to do by the Landlord, employ and pay pest exterminators approved by the Landlord to treat the Premises. The Landlord will provide pest control services as it deems appropriate to office buildings only but not for warehouses or plots.

### 5.13. Compliance with Statutes

5.13.1 The Tenant shall comply in all respects with the provisions of all statutes, ordinances, proclamations, orders, rules, by-laws, regulations for the time being in force and requirements of any competent authority relating to the Premises, or anything done in or on them by the Tenant, and to keep the Landlord indemnified against liability in consequence of the Tenant's failure to comply with them.

5.13.2 In particular, but without affecting the general operation of the above, the Tenant shall comply with all requirements under any present or future statutes, ordinances, proclamations, rules, orders, by-laws or regulations as to the use or occupation of or otherwise concerning the Premises.

#### 5.14. Compliance with Planning and Environmental Requirements

- 5.14.1 The Tenant shall perform and observe the requirements of statutes and regulations relating to planning and environmental protection applying to the Premises, and to obtain any development or other consent, permit or licence by reason of the development or manner of use of or on the Premises by the Tenant.
- 5.14.2 The Tenant shall keep the Landlord indemnified against liability by reason of the Tenant's failure to obtain any requisite development or other consent, permit or licence, or in complying with the requirements of statutes and regulations.

#### 5.15. Indemnification

- 5.15.1 The Tenant indemnifies and shall keep the Landlord indemnified against liability in respect of any accident, loss or damage to person or property in or on the Premises.
- 5.15.2 The Tenant indemnifies and shall keep the Landlord indemnified against liability of the Landlord to third parties by reason of breach by the Tenant of its obligations in the Lease Agreement.
- 5.15.3 The Tenant indemnifies and shall keep the Landlord indemnified from any and all claims, proceedings, and for all costs, losses, expenses and damage incurred or suffered by the Landlord as a consequence of the earlier termination of the Lease Agreement.

#### 5.16. Security Deposit

- 5.16.1 On or prior to the date of the Lease Agreement, the Tenant shall pay the Landlord a sum equal to the Security Deposit.

  Security Deposit 10% on annual rent in AED
- 5.16.2 The Security Deposit shall be held by the Landlord as security for any liability of the Tenant under the Lease Agreement.
- 5.16.3 The Landlord shall be entitled to draw on the Security Deposit if the Landlord has previously given to the Tenant notice of the Tenant's default and the Tenant has failed to remedy its default to the Landlord's satisfaction
- 5.16.4 If the Landlord has drawn on the Security Deposit, the Tenant is to pay to the Landlord on demand an amount equal to the withdrawal so that the Security Deposit is reinstated to its original full amount.

- 5.16.5 If the Security Deposit is not sufficient to cover any claims or expenses incurred by the Landlord under the Lease Agreement (including without limitation lawyer's fees, court filing fees, unpaid rent or service charges, holdover rent or service charges, reinstatement costs, dilapidation charges, costs, damages, expenses or other liabilities of whatever nature), then the Tenant shall immediately pay such sum to the Landlord upon demand.
- 5.16.6 The Tenant may not set off the Security Deposit against any payment of Rent, Service Charges or, if applicable, VAT
- 5.16.7 Three (3) months after the Expiry Date or the date of earlier termination of the Lease Agreement, the Landlord shall return the Security Deposit to the Tenant after deducting any sums required to settle any claims or expenses of the Landlord against the Tenant.
- 5.16.8 The Security Deposit shall be returned to the Tenant pursuant to clause 5.16.7 without any interest or profit.

## 5.17. Re-letting of the Premises

The Tenant shall permit all persons authorised by the Landlord or its agents to view the Premises at reasonable hours without interrupting the Permitted Use, in connection with any re-letting of the Premises.

#### 5.18. Building and Community Rules

The Tenant shall comply with any rules of the Building and/or Dubai Airport Freezone adopted or altered by the Landlord from time to time and will cause all of its agents, employees, invitees and visitors to do so. Any changes to such rules will be sent by the Landlord to the Tenant in writing.

## 5.19. Security

The Tenant shall use its best endeavours to protect and keep safe the Premises and any property contained therein from theft or robbery. The Tenant shall observe the Landlord's security procedures and rules.

#### 5.20. Clearance of Rubbish

The Tenant shall not allow any accumulation of rubbish on the Premises, the Common Areas or any part of Dubai Airport Freezone and shall ensure at all times that garbage and refuse from the Premises is removed to such locations as specified by the Landlord, and to use only that type of refuse container provided by the Landlord from time to time. The Tenant shall ensure that all kitchen and domestic garbage is sealed in polythene garbage bags before consignment. In the event of default by the Tenant the Landlord will remove such garbage at the Tenant's cost. The Tenant shall not transport rubbish by means of the passenger elevators/lifts.

#### 5.21. Banned Broadcasting Devices

The Tenant shall not erect, place or use outside and inside the Premises or the Building or on the roof of the Premises and/or Building any radio, television or television aerial, antenna or satellite dish or any loudspeakers, screens or similar devices, or equipment without the prior written consent of the Landlord nor use or permit to be used any radio, gramophone, television or other like media or equipment likely to be heard from outside the Premises, or broadcast any audio or video transmission.

#### 6. Termination

- 6.1. There is no break right for the Tenant and no right to terminate the Lease for convenience. This means that the Tenant must occupy the Premises and pay the Total Rent for the full Lease Period. The Landlord has no obligation to agree to any requests for early termination. If the Landlord gives its consent to early termination (noting that the Landlord does not have to give its consent at all), such consent shall only be given on such conditions as the Landlord in its discretion shall decide. Such conditions include (but is not limited to) the requirement to pay early termination penalties, notice period penalties, concessional penalties (rent, service charges and free-period) and break fees determined by the Landlord.
- 6.2. The Lease Agreement may be terminated prior to the Expiry Date by the Landlord where:
- 6.2.1 Any sum due under this Lease Agreement remains unpaid for thirty (30) days after becoming due for payment (whether or not formally demanded); or
- 6.2.2 the Tenant is otherwise in breach of the terms of the Lease Agreement (other than for unpaid monies) and this breach has not been remedied within fourteen (14) days of written notification by the Landlord of the breach; or
- 6.2.3 an event of insolvency occurs in relation to the Tenant or any guarantor of the Tenant; or
- 6.2.4 the Tenant has assigned or sublet the Premises in any manner whatsoever in breach of the terms of the Lease Agreement; or
- 6.2.5 the Premises become vacant or deserted for a period of thirty (30) days or more, and the Tenant is not traceable or leaves the country without notifying the Landlord and the Landlord is satisfied in the circumstances that the Premises has been abandoned.
- 6.2.6 the expression "an event of insolvency" in Clause 6.2.3 of this Section 2 includes:
- (i) (In relation to a company or other corporation which is the Tenant or a guarantor) inability of the company to pay its debts, entry into liquidation either compulsory or voluntary (except for the purpose of amalgamation or reconstruction), the passing of a resolution for its winding up, the making of a proposal to the company and its creditors for a composition in satisfaction of its debts or a scheme of arrangement of its affairs, the application to any court for an administration order, and the appointment of a receiver or administrative receiver; and
- (ii) (In relation to an individual who is a guarantor), the presentation of a bankruptcy petition, the making of a proposal to his creditors for a composition in satisfaction of his debts or a scheme of an arrangement of his affairs, the application to any court for an interim order, and the appointment of a receiver or interim receiver.

## 7. Consequences of Termination

Without prejudice to any other rights of the Landlord in law, if the Landlord terminates the Lease Agreement, then the Total Rent for the Lease Period shall become due and payable and all sums paid by the Tenant to the Landlord shall be forfeited and the Landlord (or its authorised agent) shall have the lawful right and entitlement to enter the Premises and repossess the Premises and take possession of all property therein and to let the Premises to others and dispose of such property found in the Premises in accordance with Clause 8.9 of this Section 2.

#### 8. General Provisions

#### 8.1. Adjoining Property

- 8.1.1 The Landlord may deal as it thinks fit with other property adjoining or nearby the Premises belonging to the Landlord, and may erect or permit to be erected on such property any buildings or other structures.
- 8.1.2 The Landlord may at all times, without obtaining any consent from the Tenant, alter, reconstruct or modify in any way whatsoever, or change the use of, the Common Areas so long as proper means of access to and egress from the Premises are afforded and essential services are maintained at all times.

## 8.2. Rental Policy

The Landlord may in its sole discretion determine the rental rates of different premises within Dubai Airport Freezone. Such rental rates may vary from one premises to the other due to various factors such as the location, the size of the building, the type of the activity or mutual interests between the Landlord and the tenants.

## 8.3. Service Charge Adjustment

The Landlord may in its absolute discretion vary, extend, alter or add to the services and adjust the Service Charge accordingly, if the Landlord considers that by so doing the amenities in the Building and/or Dubai Airport Freezone may be improved and/or the management of the Building and/or Dubai Airport Freezone will be more efficiently conducted or if the Landlord's expenditure upon such services increases from year to year.

## 8.4. Improvements

The Landlord shall have the right from time to time, for the purpose of the development and overall interest of the Building and/or Dubai Airport Freezone to improve, extend or in any manner whatsoever alter or deal with the Building and/or Dubai Airport Freezone and make any modification or changes provided that in exercising such right the Landlord will endeavour to cause as little inconvenience to the Tenant as is practicable in the circumstances. In the event that the Landlord deems it necessary to relocate the Tenant from its Premises the Landlord shall provide at its own cost alternative premises complete with fittings of an equivalent standard to those in the Tenant's Premises. The Tenant accepts that the Tenant shall have no right of compensation for such relocation other than these provisions.

#### 8.5. Competition

Nothing within the Lease Agreement or in any of the negotiations leading up to the Lease Agreement is to be construed as an undertaking or promise by the Landlord to restrict in any way the letting of any other building or premises of the Landlord to direct or indirect competitors of the Tenant.

#### 8.6. Disputes Between Tenants

If any dispute or disagreement at any time arises between the Tenant and the other tenants and occupiers of the Building and/or Dubai Airport Freezone relating to the gutters, pipes, sewers, drains, wires, telephone and telegraph cables, mains, gullies, channels, ducts, flues, conduits and watercourses (if any) serving, or easements or rights affecting, the Premises, the Building and/or Dubai Airport Freezone, the dispute or disagreement is to be determined by the Landlord by which determination the Tenant shall be bound.

#### 8.7. Exemption From Liability in Respect of Services

The Landlord shall not be liable to the Tenant for any loss, damage or inconvenience, which may be caused by reason of:

- 8.7.1 temporary interruption of services during periods of inspection, maintenance or repair; or
- 8.7.2 breakdown of or defect in any plant and machinery, services or gutters, pipes, sewers, drains, wires, telephone and telegraph cables, mains, gullies, channels, ducts, flues, conduits and watercourses (if any) in the Premises, the Building and/or Dubai Airport Freezone:
- 8.7.3 main power and/or water outages from DEWA;
- 8.7.4 events beyond the reasonable control of the Landlord.

## 8.8. Compensation for Disturbance

The Tenant is not entitled to terminate the Lease Agreement, quit the Premises or to claim from the Landlord any compensation for disturbance unless and to the extent that any statutory right to compensation precludes the operation of this provision.

#### 8.9. Removal of Tenant's Property

8.9.1 If, after the Tenant has vacated the Premises following the Expiry Date or earlier termination of this Lease Agreement, any property of the Tenant remains in the Premises and the Tenant fails to remove it before handing over the keys to the Landlord, the Landlord may without giving written or other notice to the Tenant, as the agent of the Tenant, sell such property and hold the proceeds of sale, after deducting the costs and expenses of removal, storage and sale reasonably and properly incurred by it, to the order of the Tenant.

8.9.2 The Tenant indemnifies and shall keep indemnified the Landlord against any liability incurred by it to any third party whose property has been sold by the Landlord in the bona fide mistaken belief (which is to be presumed unless the contrary be proved) that it belonged to the Tenant and was liable to be dealt with as such under this Sub Clause.

## 8.10. Parking

During the Lease Period, the Tenant shall have the non-exclusive use in common with the Landlord, other tenants of the Building and Dubai Airport Freezone, their guests and invitees, of the unreserved common car parking spaces, subject to rules and regulations for the use thereof as prescribed from time to time by the Landlord. The Landlord reserves the right to designate parking areas within the Building or in reasonable proximity thereto, for the Tenant and the Tenant's agents and employees.

#### 8.11. Notices

Any notice, communication or demand to be given or made by or to the Landlord or the Tenant under the Lease Agreement shall be in writing and shall be delivered personally or sent by registered mail, courier, email or by fax, to the party due to receive such notice at its address set out in Lease Agreement (or such other address as either party may advise the other in writing). Any such notice, communication or demand given or made by registered mail shall be deemed to have been received seven (7) days after the date of posting, or in case of hand delivery upon written acknowledgement of delivery made by or on behalf of the party to whom the notice was addressed or when left at the address set out in the Lease Agreement (or as either party may notify the other in writing), or in the case of a courier upon written acknowledgement of delivery made by or on behalf of the party to whom the notice was addressed, or in the case of a fax transmission upon receipt of a valid transmission report or in the case of email upon confirmation (electronic or otherwise) that the same has been received.

#### 8.12. Waiver

No waiver of any default of the Landlord or the Tenant hereunder shall be implied from any omission to take any action on account of such default if such default persists or is repeated, and no express waiver shall affect any default other than the default specified in the express waiver and that only for the time therein stated. One or more waivers by the Landlord or the Tenant shall not be construed as a waiver of a subsequent breach of the same obligation, term or condition.

#### 8.13. Headings

The headings used in these Lease Terms are for convenience of the Parties only and shall not be considered in interpreting the meaning of any provision of the Lease Agreement.

#### 8.14. Successors

The provisions of these Lease Terms shall extend to and be binding upon the Landlord and the Tenant and their respective legal representatives, successors and permitted assigns.

### 8.15. Governing Law

The Lease Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws and regulations in force from time to time in Dubai Airport Freezone (where applicable) and/or in the Emirate of Dubai.

### 8.16. Dispute Resolution

Any dispute or difference between the Parties arising out of or in connection with Premises or terms and conditions or the Lease Agreement that has not been resolved within fourteen (14) days of notice of such a dispute will be referred to the Dubai courts.

#### 8.17. Compliance with Law

The Tenant shall comply with all laws, orders, ordinances and other public requirements now or hereafter pertaining to the Tenant's use of the Premises.

## 8.18. Confidentiality

All information concerning the Lease Agreement, other than the existence of the Lease Agreement, shall be kept confidential by the Parties and shall not be disclosed by any Party to any third party except as may be required by any law,

court order or Relevant Authority, and except on a need to know basis, to each Party's accountants, auditors, investors, lenders and legal counsel. The terms of this Clause 8.18 shall survive the expiration or termination of the Lease Agreement.

#### 8.19. Variances in Measurements

The Parties agree that Emirates Authority for Standardization and Metrology (ESMA) standards will be applied when assessing any measurements or calculations relating to the area of the Premises. The Parties acknowledge that any variance of plus or minus two per cent (2%) shall be disregarded for these purposes

## 8.20. Language

The Lease Agreement is prepared in both the Arabic and English languages. In the event of any dispute resolution, litigation or other formal process, the Arabic text shall prevail over the English text and be conclusive in any questions as to the meaning or interpretation thereof.

#### 8.21. Construction and Interpretation

- 8.21.1 Section and clause headings are for ease of reference only and do not affect the interpretation of the Lease Agreement.
- 8.21.2 Words importing the singular are to include the plural and vice versa.
- 8.21.3 Any law or decree or any section of any law or decree will be deemed to include reference to any modification or re-enactment thereof for the time being in force and all instruments, orders, regulations, by-laws, permissions and directions at any time made thereunder.
- 8.21.4 The terms "hereof" "herein" "hereby" "hereto" and similar words refer to these entire Lease Terms and not to any particular Clause, Section or any other subdivision of the Lease Agreement.
- 8.21.5 The words "include" or "including" shall be deemed to be followed by "without limitation" or "but not limited to" whether or not they are followed by such phrases of like import.
- 8.21.6 All dates herein shall be construed with reference to and in accordance with the Gregorian Calendar.

## 8.22. Final Agreement

The Lease Agreement terminates and supersedes all prior understandings or agreements on the subject matter hereof.

# Section 3 - Additional Standard Terms and Conditions Applicable to All Leases of Warehouses, Offices, Food and Beverage (F&B) Outlets and Store Units.

The following additional Standard Terms and Conditions shall be applicable to all leases of warehouses, offices, food and beverage outlets and store units which for the avoidance of doubt means all leases where the Permitted Use is stated in the Lease Agreement to be a warehouse, an office, a food and beverage (F&B) outlet or a store unit.

#### 1. Utilities

The Landlord shall provide connection to the Premises for the supply of Utilities and Telecom Services. For the avoidance of doubt, the Landlord shall not be obliged to provide an uninterrupted power supply.

#### 2. Utilities and Telecom Services

- 2.1. If the case of Leases of offices only the Landlord shall be responsible for charges in respect of any Utilities connected to and consumed on the Premises. The Landlord shall have no responsibility for any interrupted power supply from the utility provider
- 2.2. The Tenant shall be solely responsible for charges associated with the connection and provisions and usage of all Telecom Services on the Premises
- 2.3. On the Expiry Date or on earlier termination of the Lease Agreement the Tenant must clear all outstanding balances, charges, fees and other sums due to the providers of all Telecom Services and provide evidence to the Landlord that all such payments have been made and accounts closed. In the case of Leases of warehouses and plots the Tenant will be responsible for arranging power disconnection and final bill clearance.

## 3. Hand Over and Repair at the End of the Lease Period

On the Expiry Date or earlier termination of the Lease Agreement:

- 3.1. The Tenant shall quietly vacate and hand over the Premises in good, clean and (where applicable) (and subject to the Landlord's condition for reinstatement set out in Clause 5 of this Section 3) and at the option of the Landlord:
- 3.1.1 with all additions and improvements to the Premises and all fixtures and fittings attached to and forming part of the Premises or such of those additions, improvements or fixtures and fittings as the Landlord may specify; or
- 3.1.2 take the Premises back to shell and core in accordance with the Landlord's specifications for the same.
- 3.2. The Landlord shall be entitled to specify a time period in which the Tenant must complete the above obligations being at the Landlord's discretion, reasonable in the circumstances.

- 3.3. Prior to the end of the Lease Period the Tenant shall remove from the Premises all the Tenant's belongings, including without limitation, any and all notice boards and signs bearing the name of the Tenant or otherwise
- 3.4. The Tenant shall repair to the satisfaction of the Landlord all damage to the Premises and the Building resulting from the removal of any of the Tenant's belongings from the Premises.
- 3.5. The Tenant shall pay Civil Charges and MEP Charges to the Landlord, such charges will be at the Landlord's prevailing rates, or if the Landlord so elects, the Landlord may deduct such charges from the Security Deposit.

## 4. Repairs and Defects

On becoming aware of any defects in the Premises or the Building, the Tenant shall promptly give written notice of any and all such defects to the Landlord.

#### 5. Construction and Alterations

- 5.1. The Tenant shall not without the prior consent in writing of the Landlord and (where required) any Relevant Authority:
- 5.1.1 make any alterations or additions to, or affecting the structure or exterior and interior of, the Building, or the appearance of the Premises as seen from the exterior; and
- 5.1.2 install or erect any exterior lighting, shade, canopy or awning or other structure in the interior, in front of or elsewhere outside the Premises.
- 5.2. The Tenant shall comply strictly with any requirements and conditions of any Relevant Authority.
- 5.3. The Tenant will be required to provide all specifications, drawings and other information for the proposed construction or alterations as the Landlord may require. Where the Landlord grants its consent it may do so upon conditions, including but not limited to:
- 5.3.1 the requirement to provide a bond or deposit; and
- 5.3.2 the signing by the Tenant of the Landlord's standard letter of undertaking, which for the avoidance of doubt may contain such obligations and requirements as the Landlord may impose, including without limitation an obligation on the Tenant to reinstate the alterations on the Expiry Date or earlier determination of the Lease Agreement which in the case of a lease of a plot of land will include an obligation to demolish and remove any buildings or other structures erected on the Premises and return the Premises to the Landlord as a bare plot of land.
- 5.4. Unless the Premises was granted on a Fixed Finishes Basis on the Lease Commencement Date (in which case clause 5.7 below shall apply). On the termination of this Lease Agreement, the Tenant shall, at the option of the Landlord and at the Tenant's cost and expense, reinstate the Premises to the condition in which they were in at the grant of the Lease Agreement, such reinstatement to be carried out before expiry of the Lease Agreement and within a reasonable period of time specified by the Landlord. Such reinstatement work shall be carried out and completed to the reasonable satisfaction of the Landlord.

- 5.5. The Tenant shall procure that any alterations, additions or reinstatement to the Premises permitted or required by the Landlord be carried out only by a contractor approved by the Landlord (such approval not to be unreasonably withheld).
- 5.6. At all times during the course of any work in connection with any alteration that are made, all such works and such alterations shall immediately become subject to the terms of the Lease Agreement.
- 5.7. If the Premises have been handed over to the Tenant on a Fixed Finishes Basis on the Lease Commencement Date, the Tenant agrees at the Tenant's sole cost to reinstate the Premises to a shell and core basis to the Landlord's absolute satisfaction when the Lease ends (howsoever ended). The Tenant may elect the Landlord to carry out the reinstatement of the Premises to a shell and core basis and if the Tenant so elects, the Landlord shall notify the Tenant of the reinstatement costs. The Tenant shall pay to the Landlord in cleared funds the reinstatement costs within fourteen (14) days of the Landlord's notice. For the purposes of these Standard Terms and Conditions. "Fixed Finishes Basis" means a Premises that has been fitted out and handed over to the Tenant "as is".

#### 6. Assignment and Subletting

- 6.1. Tenant may not assign or sublet the whole or any part or parts of the Premises.
- 6.2. The Tenant may not:
- 6.2.1 Part with or share possession or occupation of the whole or any part of the Premises; or
- 6.2.2 Grant to third parties any rights over the Premises.
- 6.3. The Landlord may assign its interest in the Lease Agreement to any subsidiary, affiliate, associate or any other related or unrelated entity at any time without notice.

## 7. Reserved Car Parking

In addition to the rights to unreserved car parking granted by Clause 8.10 of Section 2, the Landlord grants the Tenant the following reserved parking:

- 7.1. in respect of a Lease of Offices only one (1) reserved parking space for each complete 50 square metres of office premises leased with a remote control for access to each space, subject to the Tenant complying with such conditions and paying such parking charges as the Landlord may impose from time to time and the Tenant signing a parking lease in the Landlord's required format;
- 7.2. in respect of a Lease of Warehouses only four (4) reserved parking spaces in total subject to the Tenant complying with such conditions and paying such parking charges as the Landlord may impose from time to time, the Tenant signing a parking lease in the Landlord's required format and the Tenant paying AED 150 signage fees for each parking space.

## Section 4 - Additional F&B Standard Terms and Conditions

The following additional F&B Standard Terms and Conditions shall be applicable to all leases of food and beverage outlets which for the avoidance of doubt means all leases where the Permitted Use is stated in the Lease Agreement to be a food and beverage (F&B) outlet.

- 1. The Tenant agrees to establish all prices and charges for the products to be sold from the Premises and obtain the approval of the Landlord to such prices and charges. Any changes to the prices and charges must first be approved by the Landlord and the Landlord reserves the right to refuse approval to change the prices and charges if it considers the changes inappropriate for any reason
- 2 The Tenant will at all times:
- 2.1 operate its business from the Premises with the standards of skill, care and diligence adhered to by experienced international companies specialising in the activities which the Tenant is to undertake pursuant to the Lease Agreement;
- 2.2 operate its business from the Premises in a neat, clean and safe manner to the satisfaction of the Landlord;
- 2.3 employ all such management and employees as are sufficient in number, efficient, competent, suitably trained, experienced and fully qualified to carry out their duties from the Premises;
- 2.4 observe and perform, and ensure that its employees, contractors, consultants and suppliers observe and perform, every provision of all regulations imposed by any Relevant Authority which deal with food safety, food handling regulations, safety and security.
- 2.5. The Tenant shall be responsible for all costs and usage of Utilities and Telecom Services associated with connecting the Premises to any distribution or access point for any services to be supplied by any provider of Utilities and Telecom Services.
- 2.6. The Tenant acknowledges and agrees that where the Tenant may require elevated electricity consumption, the Landlord shall be entitled to charge to the Tenant additional charges relating to any works required by contractors of the Landlord or charges from the relevant provider of Utilities as well as additional consumption charges.
- 2.7 The Tenant shall keep the Premises fully stocked and prepared for the carrying out of the Tenant's trade or business and open for trading during the opening hours of 11:00 to 17:00 on each working day (or such other opening hours determined by the Landlord).
- 3. The Tenant will commence full operations from the Premises no later than [one month] from the Commencement Date. If the Tenant fails to commence full operations by such date then the Landlord will have grounds to terminate the Lease Agreement with immediate effect. In such circumstances the consequence detailed in Clause 7 of Section 2 (General Standard Terms and Conditions applicable to all leases) shall apply.

# Section 5 - Additional Plot Standard Terms and Conditions Applicable to All Leases of Plots of Land

The following additional Plot Standard Terms and Conditions shall be applicable to all leases of plots of land which for the avoidance of doubt means all leases where the Permitted Use is stated in the Lease Agreement to be a plot of land for development.

#### 1. Open Areas and Landscaping

The Tenant shall at all times keep the all open areas on the Premises adequately surfaced and where landscaped properly cultivated

#### 2. Utilities

- 2.1. The Landlord shall provide connection to the Premises for the supply of Utilities and Telecom Services. For the avoidance of doubt, the Landlord shall have no responsibility for providing such a connection to the Premises nor shall the Landlord be obliged to provide an uninterrupted power supply.
- 2.2. The Tenant shall be responsible for all costs and usage of Utilities and Telecom Services associated with connecting the Premises to any distribution or access point for any services to be supplied by any provider of Utilities and Telecom Services.
- 2.3. The Tenant acknowledges and agrees that where the Tenant may require elevated electricity consumption, the Landlord shall be entitled to charge to the Tenant additional charges relating to any works required by contractors of the Landlord or charges from the relevant provider of Utilities as well as additional consumption charges.
- 2.4. On the Expiry Date or on earlier termination of the Lease Agreement the Tenant must clear all outstanding balances, charges, fees and other sums due to the providers of all Utilities and Telecom Services and provide evidence to the Landlord that all such payments have been made and accounts closed, including without limitation, the provision of a clearance certificate from Dubai Electricity and Water Authority (DEWA).

#### 3. Redecoration

The Tenant shall redecorate the Premises as often as is reasonably required and also in the last three (3) months of the Lease Period in colours and patterns which shall first be approved by the Landlord in a good and workmanlike manner, unless the Landlord notifies the Tenant that it requires the buildings and other structures erected on the Premises to be removed and the Premises reinstated and handed back to the Landlord as a bare plot of land, in which case the Tenant will not be required to redecorate in the last three (3) months of the Lease Period.

#### 4. Hand Over and Repair at the End of the Lease Period

- 4.1. On the Expiry Date or earlier termination of the Lease Agreement:
- 4.1.1 The Tenant shall quietly vacate and hand over the Premises in good, clean and (where applicable) redecorated condition (and subject to the Landlord's option for reinstatement set out in Clause 5.4 of this Section 5) and at the option of the Landlord:
- (i) with all additions and improvements to the Premises and all fixtures and fittings attached to and forming part of the Premises or such of those additions, improvements or fixtures and fittings as the Landlord may specify; or
- (ii) reinstate all or part of the Premises to the state and condition that they were in prior to the Tenant taking possession; or
- (iii) take the Premises back to a bare plot of land.
- 4.2. The Landlord shall be entitled to specify a time period in which the Tenant must complete the above obligations being at the Landlord's discretion, reasonable in the circumstances.

- 4.3. The Tenant shall remove from the Premises all the Tenant's belongings, including without limitation, any and all notice boards and signs bearing the name of or otherwise relating to the Tenant or its business.
- 4.4. The Tenant shall repair to the satisfaction of the Landlord all damage to the Premises and the Building resulting from the removal of any of the Tenant's belongings from the Premises.
- 4.5. The Tenant shall pay Civil Charges and MEP Charges to the Landlord, such charges will be at the Landlord's prevailing rates, or if the Landlord so elects, the Landlord may deduct such charges from the Security Deposit.

#### 5. Construction and Alterations

- 5.1. The Tenant shall not without the prior consent in writing of the Landlord and (where required) any Relevant Authority:
- 5.1.1 undertake any works of construction on the Premises including the erection of buildings and other structures, ground works or any other works;
- 5.1.2 make any alterations or additions to, or affecting the structure or exterior of, any buildings or other structures that have been constructed on the Premises, or the appearance of the Premises as seen from the exterior; and
- 5.1.3 install or erect any exterior lighting, shade, canopy or awning or other structure on the Premises.
- 5.2. The Tenant shall comply strictly with any requirements and conditions of any Relevant Authority.
- 5.3. The Tenant will be required to provide all specifications, drawings and other information for the proposed construction and for any alterations as the Landlord may require. Where the Landlord grants its consent it may do so upon conditions, including but not limited to:
- 5.3.1 the requirement to provide a bond or deposit which will be held by the Landlord until Completion of the Work has been achieved: and
- 5.3.2 the signing by the Tenant of the Landlord's standard letter of undertaking, which for the avoidance of doubt may contain such obligations and requirements as the Landlord may impose, including without limitation an obligation on the Tenant to reinstate the alterations on the Expiry Date or earlier determination of the Lease Agreement which will include an obligation to demolish and remove any buildings or other structures erected on the Premises and return the Premises to the Landlord as a bare plot of land.

- 5.4. On the termination of this Lease Agreement, the Tenant shall, at the option of the Landlord and at the Tenant's cost and expense, reinstate the Premises to a bare plot of land as the Premises were in at the grant of the Lease Agreement, such reinstatement to be carried out within a reasonable period of times specified by the Landlord. Such reinstatement work shall be carried out and completed to the reasonable satisfaction of the Landlord. Alternatively the Landlord may elect to allow the Tenant to renew this Lease Agreement (such renewal to be at the absolute discretion of the Landlord) to leave such buildings and other structures as the Landlord may nominate on the Premises at the end of the Lease Period.
- 5.5. The Tenant shall procure that all construction works, alterations, additions or reinstatement to the Premises be carried out only by a contractor approved by the Landlord (such approval not to be unreasonably withheld).
- 5.6. At all times during the Lease Period if any work is carried out to make alterations that, all such works and alterations shall immediately become subject to the terms of the Lease Agreement.

## 6. Assignment and Subletting

- 6.1. The Tenant may, but only after prior written approval of the Landlord is given, assign, transfer, encumber, pledge or hypothecate (collectively, "Alienate") any the whole but not any part or parts of the Premises where such assignment, transfer, encumbrance, pledge or hypothecation (each referred to as an "Alienation") and the other party to the Alienation (being referred to as the "Disponee") is approved by the Landlord, such approval to be withheld or granted in the absolute discretion of the Landlord. The Landlord may also impose such conditions on the Alienation as it considers necessary and may require the Tenant and the Disponee to enter with it in a tripartite agreement to record the terms of the Alienation.
- 6.2. Subject to Clause 6.1 of this Section 5, and regardless of the Landlord's consent to any particular Alienation or Disponee, no Alienation shall release the Tenant from the Tenant's obligations under the Lease Agreement or alter the primary liability of the Tenant to pay the Rent and to perform all other obligations to be performed by the Tenant under the Lease Agreement, whether arising before or after the Alienation.
- 6.3. The Tenant shall not, otherwise than by an Alienation permitted under Clause 6.1 of this Section 5 above:
- 6.3.1 Part with or share possession or occupation of the whole or any part of the Premises; or
- 6.3.2 Grant to third parties any rights over the Premises.
- 6.4. The Landlord may assign its interest in the Lease to any subsidiary, affiliate, associate or any other related or unrelated entity at any time without notice.

#### 7. Rent Review

- 7.1. The Rent specified in the Lease Agreement shall be subject to review on every third anniversary of the Commencement Date ("Review Dates") throughout the Lease Period.
- 7.2. From each Review Date a Rent equal to the greater of:
- 7.2.1 the Rent previously payable under the Lease Agreement; and
- 7.2.2 the revised Rent ascertained in accordance with this Clause 7.3 of this Section 5.
- 7.3. The revised Rent payable from any Review Date may be agreed in writing at any time between the Landlord and the Tenant or (in the absence of agreement) shall be based on the assessment of rental values of properties of a similar type to the Premises within Dubai Airport Freezone carried out by an independent valuer of recognised standing and having experience in letting and valuing property of a kind and character similar to the Premises. The Landlord shall at regular intervals (such intervals to be in the region of three (3) years) appoint such a valuer to conduct an assessment of rent and values of properties leased by the Landlord within Dubai Airport Freezone and the assessment applicable to the relevant Review Date shall be the most recent assessment conducted by the valuer prior to the relevant Review Date. In the event of any disagreement as to the correct rent assessment the opinion of the Landlord shall be final.

## 8. Commencement of Operations

The Tenant will carry out construction of suitable buildings and structures on the Premises with all due speed and diligence, in accordance with the terms of the Lease Agreement, and will then commence full operations from the Premises no later than [twelve months] from the Commencement Date. If the Tenant fails to commence full operations by such date then the Landlord will have grounds to terminate the Lease Agreement with immediate effect. In such circumstances the consequences detailed in Clause 7 of Section 2 (General Standard Terms and Conditions applicable to all leases) shall apply.

# Section 6 - Additional Packages Standard Terms and Conditions

The following additional Standard Terms and Conditions shall be applicable to all Package leases which for the avoidance of doubt means all leases where the Permitted Use is stated in the Lease Agreement to be a package.

#### 6.1 Renewal

Not less than three (3) months prior to the Expiry Date, the Tenant shall notify the Landlord in writing if the Tenant does not wish to renew the Lease Agreement. Where the Tenant does not serve notice in writing on the Landlord its wish not to renew the Lease Agreement, then the provisions of Clause 1.2 of this Section 2 apply. Without prejudice to Clauses 1.2, 1.3 and 1.4 of this Section 2, if the Tenant fails or delays in serving notice of non-renewal, the Tenant shall (in addition to the actual Rent payable under the Lease) pay to the Landlord a penalty equal to: three (3) months' Rent.

## 6.2 Service Charge

No Service Charge shall be applicable to the package as its inclusive in the rent amount.

## 6.3 Payment of Total Rent

**6.3.1** For all packages except "Business Smart Desk" the yearly rent is payable in advance in Two installments without any deduction, withholding, set-off, and net from any charges, duties or any other taxes of whatsoever nature. The payment is to be made two weeks before the Commencement Date

6.3.2 For Business Smart Desk, the yearly rent is payable in one payment only upfront.

#### 6.4 Insurance

The Landlord shall at its own cost obtain and maintain throughout the Lease Period insurance for the following and such other risks as the Landlord may otherwise determine from time to time:

- 6.4.1 All Risks Insurance to cover the Building (including the Premises, the property of the Tenant in the Premises and those parts of the Building occupied by other tenants) and the Common Areas; and
- 6.4.2 Third Party Liability Insurance; and
- 6.4.3 The Tenant shall at his own cost or the Tenant's agents or contractors conducts any work on the Premises, Contractor's All Risks Insurance and the Tenants Worker's Compensation Insurance in the joint names of the DAFZA and the Tenant in compliance with statutory and regulatory requirements. The Tenant shall supply copies of such insurance policies and evidence of payment of premiums to the DAFZA.

## **6.5 Operation Commencement**

The Tenant will commence full operations from the Premises no later than [5 working days] from the Commencement Date. If the Tenant fails to commence full operations by such date then the Landlord will have grounds to terminate the Lease Agreement with immediate effect. In such circumstances the consequence detailed in Clause 7 of Section 2 (General Standard Terms and Conditions applicable to all leases) shall apply. The Landlord entitled to specify a time period in which the Tenant must complete the above

#### 6.6 General

- The tenant shall not conduct any fit out works or modify the space plan or finishes of the leased space or unit.
- The tenant shall not add any furniture to accommodate an additional employee within the leased space or unit.
- The tenant shall bear the cost of maintenance for any extension of area done by the tenant in Light Industrial Units (LIU).
- The tenant shall bear the cost of maintenance for any additional assets installed as per the tenant's request.
- The tenant must use the Executive Smart Desk Office for a minimum of 36 hours per month

## **Section 7 - Service Charge Costs**

- 1. The cost of repairing, maintaining, cleaning, decorating and lighting the whole of the Building and all conduits serving the Building.
- 2. The cost of maintaining in good working order and repair all plant serving the Building (including generators, boilers, systems for ventilation, heating and air conditioning and lifts) and all conduits in or serving the Building.
- 3. The cost of providing ventilation, heating, air conditioning and water heating to the Building.
- 4. The cost of the maintenance of all open and landscaped areas adjoining the Building.
- 5. The cost of the supply and maintenance of fire prevention and firefighting equipment and fire alarm equipment in the Building.
- 6. The cost of providing reception, caretaking and security services to the Building.
- 7. The cost of employing staff to undertake the Landlord's obligations under this Lease Agreement and the other functions referred to in this Schedule.
- 8. All charges for the supply to and consumption at the Building as a whole of water, sewerage, gas and electricity.
- 9. The cost of insuring the Building as a whole.
- 10. Any other sum properly incurred by the Landlord in connection with the Building including, without limitation, the cost of providing any other service which the DAFZA reasonably considers necessary for the purpose of good management of the Building.
- 11. All MEP maintenance, Air-conditioning, CIVIL maintenance, CCTV, Waste clearance, external area Landscape, cleaning, Hygiene in common area and Pest control.

## **Light Industrial Units (LIU)**

1. Light Industrial Units (LIU) Utility, Internal Cleaning, Pest Control to be paid separately by tenant.

## **Section 8 - VAT**

All rents, amounts and costs in this Lease Agreement are exclusive of VAT. If VAT becomes chargeable on such rents, amounts or costs, the Tenant shall pay to the Landlord such applicable VAT as an additional payment.

## تكاليف رسوم الخدمات

## الوحدات المكتبية

- ا. تكلفة التصليح والصيانة والتنظيف والتزيين والإنارة لكامــل المبنــى بالإضافة إلــى تكلفة كل
   التمديــدات التـــى تخــدم المبنـــى.
- 1. تكلفة صيانة وتصليح كافة المحطات التي تخدم المبنى (بما في ذلك المولّدات الكهربائية وسخانات المياه وأنظمة التهوية والتدفيّة والتكييف والمصاعد) وكافة التمديدات التى تخدم المبنى من داخله أو خارجه.
  - ٣. تكلفة تحهيز المبنى بأنظمة التهوية والتدفئة والتكييف وتسخين المياه.
  - ٤. تكلفة صيانة كافة المساحات المفتوحة والمواقع الطبيعية المجاورة للمبنى.
  - ٥. تكلفة تحهيز المبنى بأنظمة ومعدّات مكافحة الحريق وإطفائه وأنظمة الإنذار وتكلفة صيانتها.
    - ٦. تكلفة تجهيز المبنى بخدمة الاستقبال والعناية والأمن.
- ٧. تكلفة توظيف طاقم عمل لتنفيذ التزامات المالك بموجب اتفاقية الإيجار بالإضافة إلى المهام الأخرى المشار اليها في هذا الجدول.
- - تكلفة تأمين المبنى ككل.
- ۱۰. أي مبلغ آخر يتكبّده المالك بشأن المبنى بما في ذلك، مـن دون حصر، تكلفة توفير أي خدمات أخرى تعتبرهـا سلطة المنطقة الحرّة بمطار دبى ضرورية لغرض الإدارة الرشيدة للمبنى.
- II. صيانـة الأعمـال الكهربائيـة والميكانيكيـة وأعمـال السـباكة، وتكييـف الهـواء، والصيانـة المدنيـة، وكاميـرات الدوائـر التلفزيونيـة المغلقـة، والتخلّـص مـن النفايـات، وتضميـم المناظـر الطبيعيـة فـي المسـاحة الخارجيـة، والتنظيـف، وضمـان النظافـة فـى الأماكـن المشــتركة، ومكافحـة الحشــرات.

## الوحدات الصناعية الخفيفة (LIU)

 ا. يجب على المستأجر أن يسدد - بدفعة منفصلة - تكاليف مرفق الوحدات الصناعية الخفيفة والتنظيف الداخلي ومكافحة الحشرات.

# الجزء الثامن: ضريبة القيمة المضافة

جميع الإيجارات والمبالغ والتكاليف المذكورة في عقد الإيجار هذا لا تتضمن ضريبة القيمة المضافة. وفي حال تم فرض ضريبة القيمة المضافة على الإيجارات والمبالغ والتكاليف عندها يتوجب على المستأجر دفع ضريبة القيمة المضافة كدفعة إضافية.

## ٦،٤ التأمين

يجب على المالك الحصول على تأمين وإبقائه ساري المفعول طوال فترة الإيجار، وذلك على نفقته الخاصة، لتغطية المخاطر التالية وأي مخاطر أخرى قد يحدّدها المالك من حين لآخر:

۲-3-ا تأمين ضد كافة المخاطر لتغطية «المبنى» (بما فيه المنشآت وممتلكات المستأجر ضمن
 المنشآت وأى أحزاء أخرى من المبنى بشغلها مستأجرون آخرون) والمناطق المشتركة؛

٢-٤-٦ وتأمين مسؤولية الطرف الثالث،

F-3-M يجب على المستأجر توفير «تأمين ضد كافة المخاطر» و»تأمين تعويض عمّال المستأجر»، وذلك على نحـو مشـترك باسـمه وباسـم سـلطة المنطقـة الحـرّة بمطـار دبـي، وامتثـالاً للمتطلّبـات الإلزامية والتنظيمية، وعلى نفقته الخاصة أو على نفقة وكلائه أو المقاولين الذين ينفّذون أي أعمـال فـي المبنـى. كمـا يجـب علـى المسـتأجر تقديـم نسـخ عـن وثائـق التأميـن هــذه وإثباتـات علـى دفـع أقسـاط التأميـن لسـلطة المنطقة الحرّة بمطـار دبـى.

#### ٦،٥ ندء العمل

يجب على المستأجر الشروع بكافة العمليات في المنشآت في موعد أقصاه (٥ أيام عمـل) مـن تاريخ البدء. وإذا تخلّف المستأجر عن الشروع بكافة العمليات بحلول هـذا الموعد، يصبح لدى المالك سببُ لإنهاء اتفاقية الإيجار فوراً. وفي مثل هـذه الظروف، تنطبق التبعات المفصّلة في البند ٧ مـن القسم ٢ ( الشروط والأحكام القياسية العامـة المنطبقة على كافة عقود الإيجار).

## ٦،٦ أحكام عامة

- لا يحـقُ للمســتأجر أن يُجـري أي أعمــال تجهيزيــة أو يُدخِــل أي تعديــل علــى مخطـط المســاحة أو علــى تشــطيبات المســاحة/الوحدة المســتأجرة.
  - لا يحقّ للمستأجر أن يُضيف أي أثاث لاستيعاب موظف جديد ضمن المساحة/الوحدة المستأجرة.
  - يتحمّل المستأجر تكاليف صيانة أي توسيع للمساحة يُجريه في الوحدات الصناعية الخفيفة (LIU).
    - يتحمَّل المستأجر تكاليف صيانة أي أصول إضافية تُركَّب بناءً على طلبه.
- يجب على المستأجر للحزمـة Executive Smart Office Desk أن يسـتخدم العيـن المؤجـرة لمـدة لا تقـل عـن ٣٦ سـاعة فـى الشـهر

# القسم ٦. الشروط والأحكام القياسية الإضافية للحزم

تنطبق الشروط والأحكام القياسية الإضافية التالية على كافة حزم عقود الإيجار والتي، تجنّباً لأي شك، تعني كافة عقود الإيجار التي تنصّ «اتفاقية الإيجار» على أنّ «الاستخدام المسموح بــــ» لهـــا هـــو بشــكـل حزمــة.

## ۱٬۱ التجديد

يتعيــن علــى المســتأجر توجيــه إخطــار خطــي للمالــك قبــل (٣) ثلاثة أشــهر علــى الأقل مــن تاريــخ الانتهاء فــي حالــة عدم رغبة المستأجر في تجديــد عقــد الإيجار. وإذا لــم يوجـه المســتأجر إخطــارا خطيــا للمالــك بعــدم رغبتــه فــي تجديــد عقــد الإيجار فتســـري عندهـــا أحــكام البنــد ١،٢ مـــن الجــزء الثاني هـــذا. بـدون الإخلال بالبنــود ١،٢ و ١،٣ و ١،٢ مــن هــذا الجزء الثاني، إذا لـم يوجّـه المســتأجر إخطار للمالــك بعـدم رغبتــه فــي تجديــد عقــد الإيجار أو تأخر بتوجيه هــذا الإخطار، فإنه يتعين على المســتأجر أن يدفع للمالـك (بالإضافة إلــى القيمــة الإيجارية الفعليـة المســتحقة بموجـب عقد الإيجار) غرامـة تعـادل القيمــة الإيجارية المســتحقة بموجـب عقد الإيجار)

## ۲-۱ رسوم الخدمة

لا تنطبق أي رسوم خدمة على الحزمة كونها جزء من قيمة الإيجار.

## ٣-٦ تسديد قيمة الإيجار

**١.٣،٦** يسـتحقَّ دفـع قيمـة الإيجـار السـنوي سـلفاً بشـكل قسـطين ومـن دون أي اقتطـاع أو حجـز أو تسـوية، صافيـةٌ مـن أي رسـوم أو الـتزامـات أو ضرائب أخـرى مهمـا كان نوعهـا. ويجب تسـديد الدفعـة قبـل أسـبوعين مـن تاريخ البـدء.

۲.۳،۱ أما للحزمة Business Smart Desk ، يستحق دفع قيمة الإيجار السنوى دفعة واحدة سلفا.

٢-3 يحق للمالك التنازل عن مصالحه في عقد الإيجار إلى أي من شركاته الفرعية أو التابعة، أو الشركات الزميلة، أو أى جهة ذات أو غير ذات صلة فى أى وقت ودون أى إخطار.

# ٧. مراجعة القيمة الإيجارية

 ٧-ا تخضع القيمة الإيجارية المحددة في عقد الإيجار للمراجعة كل ثلاث سنوات اعتبارا من تاريخ البدء ("تواريخ المراجعة") طيلة مدة الإيجار.

- ۲-۷ ستكون القيمة الإيجارية في كل تاريخ مراجعة مساويا أو أكبر من:
  - ۱-۲-۷ القيمة الإيجارية التي دفعها المستأجر بموجب عقد الإيجار؛ و
- ٢-٢-٧ القيمة الإيجارية المعدلة والمؤكدة وفقا لأحكام البند ٣-٧ من الجزء الخامس الحالى.

W-V يتفق الطرفان خطيا على القيمـة الإيجاريـة المعدلـة والمسـتحقة اعتبـارا مــن أي تاريخ مراجعـة في أي وقت فيما بين المالك والمستأجر أو (في حالـة عـدم الاتفاق) فسـيكون ذلك بناء على تقييم القيمـة الإيجاريـة للعقـارات المماثلـة لنوعيـة العيـن داخـل المنطقـة الحـرة بمطـار دبـي، ويجـري هــذا التقييـم مــن قبـل أحـد المقيميـن المســتقلين المعتـرف بهــم، وأصحـاب الخبـرة فــي إيجـار وتقييـم العقـارات ذات الطبيعـة والســمات المشـابهة للعيـن. ويكلـف المالـك وبشــكل دوري (ويكـون ذلك فــي حدود ٣ (ثلاث) سـنوات) هــذا المقيـم لإجـراء تقييـم للإيجـار، وقيمـة العقـارات المؤجـرة عـن طريق المنطقة الحرة بمطـار دبـي، ويصبح التقييـم النافـذ فــي تاريخ المراجعـة هــو أحـدث تقييـم يجربـه المقيـم قبـل تاريخ المراجعـة المعنــي. وفــي حالــة عــدم الاتفــاق علــى التقييـم الســليم للقيمــة الإيجاريــة فــان قــرار المالــك ســيكون نهائيـا فــى هـــذا الخصــوص.

# ٨. مباشرة الأعمال

على المستأجر القيام بالأعمال الإنشائية للمباني والهياكل المناسبة على العين بالسرعة والعناية الواجبة، ووفقا لشروط عقد الإيجار، وعليه مباشرة أعمال بالكامـل مـن العيـن بمـا لا يتجـاوز ااثنـي عشـر شـهرا] مـن تاريخ البدء. وإذا أخفق المستأجر في بدء أعماله بالكامـل في ذلك التاريخ، فإن ذلك يعد سـندا للمالـك لإنهاء عقد الإيجـار. وفي هـذه الحالـة تسـري التبعـات المفصلـة فـي المـادة ٧ مـن القسـم الثانـى (الشـروط والأحـكام المعيارية السـارية علـى كافة عقـود الإيجـار).

تنفيذ هذه الأعمال بالشكل الذي يرضي المالك وعلى نحو معقول. وكبديل عن ذلك، يمكن أن يختار المالك السماح للمستأجر بتجديد عقد الإيجار (ويتوقف هذا التجديد على القرار المحض مـن المالـك) لتـرك المبانـى والهيـاكل الأخرى لمـن يرشحهم المالـك فـى نهايـة مـدة الإيجار.

 ٥-٥ يضمـن المستأجر أن كافة الأعمـال الإنشـائية، والتعديلات، أو الإضافـات أو إعـادة العيـن لحالتهـا تتـم فقـط عـن طريـق المقـاول الـذي يعتمـده المالـك (ولـن يحجــم المالـك عـن هــذه الموافقـة لسـبب غيـر وجيـه).

 ٦-٥ تخضع كافة الأعمال المنفذة طيلة مدة القيام بأي أعمال تتعلق بالتعديلات لشروط عقد الإيجار وبشكل فورى.

# ٦. التنازل عن الإيجار من الباطن

I-1 يجوز للمستأجر، وبعد موافقة خطية مسبقة مـن المالـك، تحويـل، أو ترتيب التـزام، أو رهـن، أو الهـن، أو الهـن، أو الهـن، أو الهـن (ويطلق عليها جميعا "التحويلات") لـكل أو جزء أو أجزاء مـن العيـن، بحيث يوافق المالـك علـى كل حالـة مـن حالات التحويـل، أو ترتيب التـزام، أو رهـن، أو الإيداع كرهـن (ويطلق علـى كل حالـة منى حالات التحويـل، أو ترتيب الحراف المحال إليـه (ويطلـق عليـه "المحال إليـه")، وللمالـك مطلـق الحريـة فـي منـح أو منـع هـذه الموافقـة. كمـا يحـق للمالـك فـرض الشـروط التـي يراهـا مناسبة على المحال إليـه، وأن يطلب مـن المستأجر والمحال إليـه الدخـول فـي اتفاقيـة ثلاثيـة لتسجيل شـروط التحويـل.

٢-١ مع مراعاة أحكام البند ٦-١ من الجزء الخامس، وبغض النظر عن موافقة المالك على أي احالة أو محال اليه، ولا يعفي أي تحويل المستأجر من التزاماته بموجب عقد الإيجار، أو يغير في التزام المستأجر بدفع القيمة الإيجار وفائه بها، سواء كانت هذه الالتزامات مترتبة قبل أو بعد التحويل.

٣-٦ لا يحق للمستأجر بخلاف التحويلات الـواردة بالبنـد ٦-١ مـن الجـزء الخامـس أعـلاه، القيـام، بأي ممـا يلـى:

٦-٣-٦ التنازل عن حيازة العين أو مشاركة حيازتها أو إشغالها كليا أو جزئيا؛ أو

٣-٣-٦ منح أي طرف ثالث أي حقوق في العين.

والناتجة عن إزالة أي متعلقات للمستأجر من العين.

3-0 يلتـزم المسـتأجر بدفـع رسـوم الأعمـال المدنيـة، ورسـوم الأعمـال الكهربائيـة والميكانيكيـة والصحية للمالك، أو يخصم المالك قيمـة والصحية للمالك، أو يخصم المالك قيمـة الرسـوم مـن تأمــن الضمـان بحســب اختــار المالـك.

## ٥. الإنشاءات والتعديلات

- ٥-١ لا يجـوز للمسـتأجر القيـام بـأي ممـا يلـي ودون موافقـة خطيـة مسـبقة مـن المالـك و (إذا اقتضـى الأمـر) مـن الجهـات المعنيـة:
- 0-I-I القيـام، بـأي أعمـال إنشـائية علـى العيـن بمـا فـي ذلـك إنشـاء المبانـي وغيرهـا مـن الهيـاكل، وأعمـال الحفـر، أو أى أعمـال أخـرى؛
- 0-I-1 أي تعديـالات أو إضافـات علــى الهيـكل أو تؤثـر عليـه أو علــى الواجهـات الداخليـة أو المســاحات الداخليــة للمبنــى أو علــى مظهــر العيــن مــن الخــارج؛ و
- ٥-١-٣ تركيب أو تنصيب أي إضاءة، أو مظلات، أو حواجز الضوء أو الشمس أو غير ذلك من الإنشاءات
   على العين.
  - ٥-٢ على المستأجر الالتزام الصارم بأي متطلبات أو شروط لأي سلطة مختصة.
- ٥-٣ يتعيـن علـى المسـتأجر تزويـد المالـك بكافـة المواصفـات، والمخططـات، والمعلومـات الأخـرى الخاصـة بأي إنشاءات أو تعديلات مقترحـة بحسـب متطلبـات المالـك. وإذا منـح المالـك موافقتـه علـى قــام المسـتأحر بذلـك فـإن هــذه الموافقـة سـتكون وفقـا للشـروط التالــة دون حصـر:
  - ٥-٣-١ متطلبا تقديم كفالة أو تأمين يحتفظ به المالك حتى الانتهاء من الأعمال المنجزة؛ و
- ٥-3 على المستأجر عند إنتهاء عقد الإيجار، وبحسب ما يراه المالك- إعادة العين إلى الحالة التي كانت عليها عند إستئجارها وعلى حساب ونفقة المستأجر، ويجب إعادة العين إلى حالتها كقطعة أرض فضاء عند منح عقد الإيجار، ويجب تنفيذ ذلك خلال فترة زمنية معقولة يحددها المالك. ويجب

٣-٢ يقر المستأجر ويوافق على أنه إذا لـزم المستأجر استهلاكا متصاعدا للكهرباء، فيحق للمالك تحميل المستأجر برسـوم إضافيـة عـن أي أعمـال لازمـة لمقـاول المالـك أو رسـوم مـزودي خدمـات المرافـق ذات الصلـة عـلاوة علـى رسـوم الاسـتهلاك الإضافـى.

1-3 يتوجب على المستأجر في تاريخ الانتهاء أو تاريخ الإنهاء المبكر لعقد الإيجار سداد كافة الأرصدة والرسـوم والأتعـاب العالقـة وغيرهـا مـن المبالـغ المسـتحقة لمـزودي الخدمـات وخدمـات الاتصـالات، وتقديم دليل للمالـك على دفع كافة هـذه المبالغ وإغلاق تلـك الحسابات بمـا فـي ذلـك علـى سبيل المثـال لا الحصـر تقديـم شـهادة بـراءة ذمـة مـن هـيئـة كهرباء ومـياه دبـى.

# ٣. اعمال الديكور والتصميم الداخلي

على المستأجر إعادة زخرفة العين كلما اقتضت الحاجة وعلى نحو معقول وبما لا يقل عن مرة واحدة في آخر (٣) (ثلاثة) أشهر من مدة الإيجار وبالألوان والنماذج التي يعتمدها المالك أولا وبمصنعية وأسلوب جيد، إلا إذا أخطر المالك المستأجر برغبته في إزالة المباني والهياكل الأخرى المنشأة على العين، وإعادة العين إلى حالتها، وتسليم المالك قطعة الأرض فضاء، وفي هذه الحالة لا يتوجب على المستأجر إعادة الزخرفة في آخر ثلاثة أشهر من مدة الإيجار.

# ٤. التسليم والإصلاحات في نهاية مدة الإيجار

- ٤-١ في تاريخ الانتهاء أو الإنهاء المبكر لعقد الإيجار فإنه:
- 3-I-I يتعين على المستأجر إخلاء وتسليم العين بهدوء وفي حالة جيدة ونظيفة و(إذا اقتضى الأمـر) اعادة اعمال الديكـور (وفقا لخيار المالـك بشأن إعادة العين إلـى حالتها كما ورد بالمـادة ٥-٤ الجـزء الخامـس)، وبحسب اختيار المالـك:
- (۱) مـع كافـة الإضافـات والتحسـينات علـى العيـن، وكافـة التجهيـزات والتركيبـات المرفقـة بهـا أو التـي تمثـل جـزءا منهـا، أو التركيبـات والتجهيـزات التـى يحددهـا المالـك؛ أو
  - (٢) إعادة العين كلها أو جزء منها إلى حالتها ووضعها الذي كانت عليه قبل حيازة المستأجر لها؛ أو
    - (٣) رد العين الى حالتها كقطعة أرض فضاء.
- ٢-٤ يحق للمالك تحديد الفترة الزمنية التي يعين على المستأجر فيها استكمال الالتزامات المبينة أعلاه بمحض ارادة من المالك وفي الظروف المعقولة.
- 8-٣ على المستأجر إزالة كافة متعلقاته مـن العين بمـا فـي ذلـك على سبيل المثال لا الحصر كافة اللوحات الإعلانية، والعلامـات التـى تحمـل اسـم المسـتأجر أو أعمالـه أو غيـر ذلـك.
  - 3-٤ على المستأجر إصلاح كافة الأضرار الواقعة على العين والمبنى وبما يرضى المالك،

- ٤-٢ تنفيذ أعمال بالعين بأسلوب يتسم بالنظام، والنظافة، والأمان وبما يرضى المالك؛
- ٦-٥ توظيف كافة الكلوادر الإدارية، والموظفيان بالعلاد الكافي وبالكفاءة والتخصيص، وبالتدريب
   المناسب، والخبارة، والتأهل الكامل لتنفيذ مهامه من العيان؛
- ٦-۲ التقيد والوفاء بكل حكـم مـن أحـكام اللوائح الصادرة عـن أي سـلطة مختصة ويضمـن الـتـزام مـوظفيـه، ومقاوليـه، ومورديـه بالتقيـد والوفاء بهـا وذلـك مـن حيث اللوائح المتعلقـة بسـلامة الأغذيـة، والتعامـل معهـا والأمـن والسـلامة.
- ٧-٧ يتعين على المستأجر إبقاء العين المؤجرة مليئة بالبضائع وجاهزة لممارسة تجارته أو أعماله ومفتوحة خلال ساعات العمل من الساعة ١٠:١ صباحاً إلى الساعة ١٠:٠ مساء في كل يوم عمل (أو في أي ساعات عمل أخرى يحددها المؤجر)
- ٣. يباشر المستأجر كافة عملياته بالكامل من العين بما لا يتجاوز [ شهرا واحدا ] من تاريخ البدء. وإذا أخفـق المسـتأجر فـي تشـغيل كافـة عملياتـه بالكامـل فـي ذلـك التاريـخ، فـإن ذلـك يعــد سـندا للمالـك لإنهاء عقـد الإيجار بأثر فـوري. وفـي هـذه الظـروف تسـري التبعـات المفصلـة فـي المـادة ٧ مـن الجـزء الثانـى (الشـروط والأحـكام المعياريـة السـارية علــى كافـة عقــود الإيجـار).

# الجزء الخامس: الشروط والأحكام المعيارية الإضافية السارية على كافة عقود إيجار قطع الأراضي

تسري الشروط والأحكام القياسية الإضافية التالية على كافة عقود إيجار قطع الأراضي، ودرءا لأي شك فإنها تعنى كافة عقود الإيجار التى يكون الاستخدام المسموح به فى عقد الإيجار هـو قطعة أرض للتطوير.

# ا. المساحات المفتوحة والتشجير

علـى المسـتأجر الحفـاظ الدائـم علـى مسـطح كافـة المسـاحات المفتوحـة بالعيـن بشـكل ملائـم والتشـجير المناسـب عليهـا

## ٦. الخدمات

يوفر المالـك توصيـلات الخدمـات وخدمـات الاتصـالات للعيـن. ودرءا لأي شـك، فـإن المالـك غيـر ملـزم بتوصيـل هـذه الخدمـات للعيـن ولا بتوفيـر تيـار كهربائـي غيـر قابـل للانقطـاع.

٢-٢ يتحمـل المسـتأجر مسـئولية كافـة التكاليـف واسـتخدام الخدمـات وخدمـات الاتصـالات المرتبطـة بتوصيل العين إلـى أى نقطـة توزيع أو توصيل لأى خدمـة يقدمهـا أى مـزود للخدمـات أو خدمـات الاتصالات.

## ٧. مواقف السيارات المحجوزة

علاوة على الحقوق التي يكفلها البند ٨-١٠ مـن الجزء الثاني في مواقف السيارات غير المحجوزة، فإن المالك يمنح المستأخر مواقف سيارات محجوزة على النحو المبين فيما يلي:

V-I بالنسبة لعقود إيجار المكاتب فقط - عدد I (واحد) موقف محجوز فقط لكل (٥٠) خمسين متر مربع وذلك للعيـون المؤجرة كمكاتب مع جهـاز تحكـم عـن بعـد للدخـول فـي كل منهـا شـريطة التزام المستأجر بشـرط دفع رسـوم مواقف السـيارات التـي يفرضهـا المالـك بيـن حيـن وآخر، وتوقيع المسـتأجر علـى عقـد إيجـار مواقف السـيارات بالشـكل الـذي يحـدده المالـك؛

7-V بالنسبة لعقـود إيجـار الـمسـتودعات فقـط- عـدد ٤ أُربعـة) مواقـف محجـوزة إجمـالا، مــع مراعـاة الـتزام المسـتأجر بشـرط دفـع رسـوم مواقـف السـيارات التـي يفرضها المالـك بيـن حيـن وآخـر، وتوقيـع المسـتأجر علــى عقـد إيجـار مواقـف السـيارات بالشــكل الــذي يحـدده المالـك، ودفـع مبلـغ ١٥٠ درهــم كرسـوم لافتـات لـكل موقـف.

# الجزء الرابع: الشروط والأحكام المعيارية الإضافية للأغذية والمشروبات

تسري الشروط والأحكام القياسية الإضافية للأغذية والمشروبات على كافة عقود إيجار منافذ الأغذية والمشروبات، ودرءا لأي شك فإنها تعنى كافة عقود الإيجار التي يكون الاستخدام المسموح به في عقد الإيجار هــو كمنفذ أغذية ومشروبات.

I. يوافق المستأجر على وضع كافة أسعار وأثمان منتجاته التي ستباع بالعين، والحصول على موافقة المالك على هذه الأسعار والأثمان. ويجب اعتماد أي تغيير في الأسعار والأثمان من المالك أولا، ويحتفظ المالك بحقه في رفض الموافقة على هذه التعديلات في الأسعار والأثمان إذا ارتأى عدم مناسبة هذه التغييرات لأى سبب كان.

- ٠. يتعين على المستأجر الالتزام الدائم بما يلى:
- ١-١ تنفيـ أعمالـه بالعيـن بمعاييـر المهـارة، والعنايـة، والرعايـة التـي تمارسـها الشـركات الدوليـة المتخصصـة فـى الأنشـطة التـى يمارسـها المسـتأجر بموجـب عقــد الإيجـار؛
- 1-1 يتحمــل المســتأجر مســئولية كافــة التكاليــف واســتخدام الخدمــات وخدمــات الاتصـالات المرتبطــة بتوصيـل العيــن إلــى أي نقطــة توزيــع أو توصيـل لأي خدمــة يقدمهــا أي مــزود للخدمــات أو خدمــات الاتصـالات.
- ٣-٢ يقــر المســتأجر ويوافــق علـــى أنــه إذا لــزم المســتأجر اســتهاكا متصاعــدا للكهربــاء، فيحــق للمالــك تحميــل المســـتأجر برســـوم إضافيـة عـــن أي أعمــال لازمــة لمقــاول المالــك أو رســـوم مــزودي خدمــات المرافــق ذات الصلــة عـــاوة علـــى رســـوم الاســـتهاك الإضافــى.

- 0-٣-٩ توقيع المستأجر على خطاب التعهد القياسي من المالك، ويحتوي هذا الخطاب درءا لأي شك على المتطلبات والالتزامات التي يفرضها المالك وتشمل على سبيل المثال إعادة كافة التعديلات إلى ما كانت عليه في تاريخ الانهاء أو تاريخ الإنهاء المبكر، وإذا كان الإيجار لقطعة أرض فإن هذا الخطاب يشمل التزامات هدم وإزالة أي مباني أو إنشاءات أخرى أُنشئت على العين، وإعادة العين إلى المالك كقطعة أرض فضاء.
- 0-3 ما لـم يتم منح المبنـى وفق التشطيبات الاساسية الثابتة في تاريخ بـدء الإيجار (يتم تطبيق البند 0،۷ أدناه علـى هـذه الحالـة). علـى المسـتأجر عنـد إنتهاء عقـد الإيجار- وبحسـب مـا يـراه المالـك- إعـادة العين إلـى الحالـة التـي كانت عليها عنـد إسـتئجارها وعلـى حسـاب ونفقة المسـتأجر، ويجب إعـادة العين إلـى تلـك الحالـة التـي كانت عليهـا عنـد بدايـة عقـد الإيجار وذلك قبـل انتهـاء عقـد الإيجار، وخلال فترة زمنية معقولـة يحددهـا المالـك وعلـى نحـو معقـول.
- ٥-٥ يضمن المستأجر أن أي تعديلات أو إضافات على العين أو إعادتها لحالتها بما يسمح به أو يقتضيه المالك
   لن تنفذ إلا عن طريق المقاول الذي يعتمده المالك (ولن يحجم المالك عن هذه الموافقة لسبب غير وجيه).
  - ١-٥ تخضع كافة الأعمال المنفذة طيلة مدة القيام، بأى أعمال تتعلق بالتعديلات لشروط عقد الإيحار وبشكل فورى.
- ٥-٧ في حال تم تسليم المبنى إلى المستأجر بناءاً على التشطيبات الاساسية الثابتة في تاريخ بدء عقد الإيجار ، يوافق المستأجر على تحمل تكاليف إعادة المبنى إلى الحالة التي كان عليها ووفقاً للمواصفات التي ترضي المالك عند انتهاء عقد الإيجار (مهما كانت طريقة انتهائه). يجوز للمستأجر ان يختار المالك لتنفيذ عملية إعادة المبنى إلى الحالة التي كان عليها، وإذا اختار المستأجر ذلك ، على المالك إخطار المستأجر بتكاليف إعادة المبنى إلى الحالة التي كان عليها. يقوم المستأجر بدفع تكاليف إعادة المبنى إلى الحالة التي كان عليها.
   (3) أربعة عشر يومًا من إشعار المالك. لأغراض هذه الشروط والأحكام ، يكون معنى» التشطيبات الأساسية الثابتة» هـو: المبنى الذي تم تجهيزه وتسليمه إلى المستأجر «بالحالة التي كان عليها».

# ٦. التنازل والإيجار من الباطن

- ٦-١ لا يحق للمستأجر التنازل عن كل أو أى جزء أو أجزاء من العين.
  - ٢-٦ لا يحق للمستأجر القيام بأي مما يلي:
- ١-٢-٦ التنازل عن حيازة العين أو مشاركة حيازتها أو إشغالها كليا أو جزئيا؛ أو
  - ٢-٢-٦ منح أي أطراف أخرى أي حقوق في العين.
- ٣-٦ يحـق للمالـك التنــازل عــن مصالحـه فـي عقــد الإيجـار إلــى أي مــن شــركاته الفرعيــة أو التابعــة، أو الشــركات الزميلــة، أو أي جهــة ذات أو غيــر ذات صلــة فــى أي وقــت ودون أي إخطــار.

- ٣-١-٣ رد العين إلى ما كانت عليه ووفقا للمواصفات التي يحددها المالك.
- ٣-٣ يحق للمالك تحديد الفترة الزمنية التي يعين على المستأجر فيها استكمال الالتزامات المبينة أعلاه بمحض تصرف من المالك وفى الظروف المعقولة.
- ٣-٣ قبل نهاية مدة الايجار على المستأجر إزالة كافة متعلقاته من العين بما في ذلك على سبيل المثال لا الحصر كافة اللوحات الإعلانية، والعلامات التى تحمل اسم المستأجر غير ذلك
- ٣-٤ على المستأجر إصلاح كافة الأضرار الواقعة على العين والمبنى وبما يرضي المالك، والناتجة عن إزالة أي متعلقات للمستأجر من العين.
- ٣-٥ يلتـزم المسـتأجر بدفـع الرسـوم المدنيـة، ورسـوم الأعمـال الكهربائيـة والميكانيكيـة والصحيـة للمالـك، وسـتكون هـذه الرسـوم وفقا للأسـعار السائدة لـدى المالـك، أو يخصـم المالـك قيمـة هـذه الرسـوم مـن مبلـغ الضمـان بحسـب اختيـار المالـك.

## 3. الإصلاحات والعبوب

## ٥. الانشاءات والتعديلات

- ٥-١ لا يجـوز للمسـتأجر ودون موافقـة خطيـة مسـبقة مـن المالـك و (إذا اقتضـى الأمـر) مـن السـلطة
   المختصـة أن يقـوم بـأى ممـا يلـى:
- ٥-١-١ أي تعديلات أو إضافات على الهيكل أو تؤثر عليه أو على الواجهات الداخلية أو المساحات الداخلية للمبنى أو على مظهر العين من الخارج؛ و
- ٥-ا-٢ تركيب أو تنصيب أي إضاءة، أو مظلات، أو حواجـز الضـوء أو الشـمس أو غيـر ذلـك مـن الإنشـاءات داخـل أو أمـام، أو فـى اى مـكـان خـارج العيـن.
  - ٠-٥ على المستأجر الالتزام الصارم بأى متطلبات أو شروط لأى سلطة مختصة.
- - ٥-٣-٥ متطلبات تقديم كفالة أو تأمين؛ و

# الجـزء الثالـث: الشـروط والأحـكام الإضافيـة النافـذة علـى كافـة عقـود إيجـار الـمسـتودعات، والـمكاتـب، ومنافـذ الأغذية والـمشـروبات، ووحـدات التخزيـن

تسري الشروط والأحكام المعيارية الإضافية التالية على كافة عقود إيجار المستودعات، والمكاتب، ومنافذ الأغذية والمشروبات، ووحدات التخزين والتي سينصرف معناها درءا لأي شك إلى كافة عقود الإيجار التي تنص عقد الإيجار فيها على أن العين عبارة عن مستودع، أو مكتب، أو منفذ للأغذية والمشروبات، أو وحدة تخزين.

#### ا. الخدمات

يوفر المالـك توصيـلات الخدمـات وخدمـات الاتصـالات للعيــن. ودرءا لأي شــك، فـإن المالـك غيـر ملــزم. بتوفيـر تيـار كهربائــى غيــر قابـل للانقطـاع.

## ٦. الخدمات وخدمات الاتصالات

- ١-١ في حالة عقود إيجار المكاتب فقط، يتحمل المالك مسئولية تكاليف أي خدمات يتم توصيلها
   للعيـن أو مسـتخدمة فيهـا. ولا يتحمـل المالـك أي مسـئولية تجـاه انقطـاع التيـار الكهربائـي مـن الجهـة المـزودة للخدمـة.
- ٢-٢ يتحمل المستأجر منفردا مسئولية الرسوم المرتبطة بتوصيل وتزويد واستخدام كافة خدمات الاتصالات في العين.
- ٣-٢ على المستأجر وفي تاريخ الانتهاء أو تاريخ الإنهاء المبكر لعقد الإيجار سداد كافة الأرصدة والرسوم والأتعاب العالقة وغيرها من المبالغ المستحقة لمزودي خدمات الاتصالات، وتقديم دليل للمالك على دفع كافة هذه المبالغ وإغلاق تلك الحسابات. وفي حالة إيجار المستودعات، وقطع الأراضي فإن المستأجر يتحمل مسئولية ترتيب فصل التيار الكهربائي ودفع الفاتورة النهائية.

# ٣. التسليم والإصلاحات في نهاية مدة الإيجار

في تاريخ الانتهاء أو الإنهاء المبكر لعقد الإيجار فإنه:

- ٣-١ يتعين على المستأجر إخلاء وتسليم العين بهدوء وفي حالة جيدة ونظيفة (إذا اقتضى الأمر) (وفقا لخيار المالك بشأن إعادة العين إلى حالتها كما ورد بالمادة ٥ من الجزء الثالث)، وبحسب اختيار المالك:
- ٣-١-١ مـع كافة الإضافات والتحسينات على العين، وكافة التجهيزات والتركيبات المرفقة بها أو التي تمثل جزءا منها، أو التركيبات والتجهيزات التي يحددها المالك؛ أو

#### ٨-٨ السرية

يجب أن يحافظ الطرفان على سرية كافة المعلومات المتعلقة بعقد الإيجار فضلا عن وجود عقد الإيجار، ويجب عدم إفشاء أي طرف عنها لأي طرف آخر إلا بموجب متطلبات قانونية، أو بأمر من محكمة، أو أحد الجهات المختصة، ومن يلزمهم العلم بها، وإلى محاسبي كل طرف، ومدققي الحسابات لديه، ومستثمريه، ومقرضيه، ومستشاريه القانونيين. وتبقى أحكام هذا البند ٨-١٨ نافذة بعد انتهاء أو إنهاء عقد الإيجار.

#### ٨-١٩ اختلاف المقاسس

اتفق الطرفان على تطبيق مقاييس هيئة الإمارات للمواصفات والمقاييس لتقييم أي مقاييس أو أي عمليات احتساب لمساحة العين. ويقر الطرفان أن أي اختلاف بما يزيد أو يقل بـمعدل ↑٪ (اثنان بالماثة) سيتم تجاهلها لهذه الأغراض

#### ۲۰-۸ اللغة

تـم تحريـر عقـد الإيجـار باللغتيـن العربيـة والإنجليزيـة. وعنـد حـل أي نـزاع أو لأغـراض أي إجـراءات قانونيـة رسـمية، فـإن النـص العربـى يســود النـص الإنجليـزى، وســيكـون حاســما لأى خـلاف حــول تفســيره.

#### ۸-۲۱ التأويل والتفسير

٨-١٦-١ إن عناويـن الأجزاء والمـواد هــي لسـهولة المرجعيـة فقـط ولـن تؤثـر بـأي حـال علـى تفسـير عقـد الانحـار.

٨-١٦-١ الكلمات التي تحمل معنى المفرد تشمل الحمع والعكس صحبح.

٨-١٦-٤ إن التعابير "منه"، "به"، "بهـذا المسـتند"، "بهـذا" هــي كلمـات متشـابهة وتشـير إلــى شـروط عقــد الإيجـار بكـامـلهـا، وليـس إلــى مـادة أو جـزء أو جـزء فرعــى بعينـه مــن عقـد الإيجـار.

٨-١٦- الكلمـات "يشـمل" أو "بمـا فـي ذلـك" يفتـرض أن تلحـق بالتعبيـر "دون حصـر" أو "علـى سـبيل المثال" سـواء كانـت ملحقـا بهـا هـذه التعابـر أم لا أو مـا شـابه مـن التعابـر.

٦-٢١-٨ تفسر كافة التواريخ الواردة بهذا المستند وفقا للتقويم الميلادي.

#### ٨-٢٢ الاتفاق النهائى

ينهى عقد الإيجار ويحل محل كافة التفاهمات أو الاتفاقيات السابقة بشأن ذات الموضوع.

إذا أرسلت بالبريد المسجل، أو في حالة التسليم باليد مع إيصال بالاستلام من الطرف الموجه إليه فلك أو من ينوب عنه فتعتبر مستلمة عند إيداعها بالعنوان المبين في عقد الإيجار (أو غير ذلك مما يخطر به الطرف الآخر خطيا)، أو في حالة الإرسال عن طريق شركات البريد السريع فتعتبر مستلمة وفقا لإيصال الاستلام الموقع من الطرف الموجهة إليه أو من ينوب عنه، أوفي حالة الإرسال بالفاكس فتعتبر مستلمة بموجب تقرير سليم بالإرسال، أو في حالة الإرسال عن طريق البريد الإلكتروني فتعتبر مستلمة عن استلام تأكيد (الكتروني أو غير ذلك) بالاستلام.

#### ۱۲-۸ التنازل

لا يُحمِل أي تنازل من المالك أو المستأجر عن أي إخلال بهذه الشروط على أنه إسقاط للحق في اتخاذ أي إجراء تجاه هذا الإخلال إذا استمر أو تكرر هذا الإخلال، وإن أي تنازل صريح عن أي إخلال بخلاف الإخلال الذي تم التنازل عنه بشكل صريح وفي إطار الفترة الزمنية المدى المبينة بهذا التنازل. كما أن أي تنازل أو أكثر من المالك أو المستأجر لن يفسر على أنه تنازل عن أي انتهاك لاحق لنفس الالتزام أو الشرط أو الحكم.

#### ۸-۱۳ العناوين

إن العناويين المســتَّخدمة فــي شــروط الإيجـار الماثلــة قــد اســتَّخدمت لأغــراض التيســير علــى الطرفيــن فقـط ولــن تؤثـر بــأى حـال علــى تأويــل معنــى أى حكــم مــن أحـكام عقـد الإيجـار.

#### ٨-١٤ الخلفاء

تمتد أحكام شروط عقد الإيجار وتلـزم المالـك والمسـتأجر وممثليهـم القانونييـن وخلفاؤهـم، ومـن يتنازلـون إليهـم أصـولا.

#### ٨-١٥ القانون المطبق

يحكم عقد الإيجار ويفسر وفقا للقوانين واللوائح النافذة في المنطقة الحرة بمطار دبي بين حين وآخر (حيثما تطبق) و/ أو تلك النافذة بإمارة دبى.

#### ١٦-٨ حل النزاع

إذا تعذر حل أي نزاع أو خلاف بين الطرفين بشأن أو فيما يتعلق بالعين أو شروط وأحكام عقد الإيجار، وتعذر حله خلال ١٤ (أربعة عشر) يوما من اخطار وقوع هذا النزاع فيحال النزاع إلى محاكم دبي

#### ٨-١٧ الالتزام بالقوانين

علـى المسـتأجر الالـتـزام بكافـة القوانيـن، والأوامـر، والمراسـيم، والمتطلبـات العامـة الأخـرى الحاليـة والمسـتقبلية فيمـا يتعلـق باسـتخدام المسـتأجر للعيـن. ٣-٧-٨ مصدر الكهرباء الرئيسي و/أو انقطاع الماء من هيئة كهرباء ومياه دبي؛

٨-٧-٨ الأحداث الخارجة عن السبطرة المعقولة للمالك

#### ٨-٨ التعويض عن الازعاج

لا يحق للمستأجر إنهاء عقد الإيجار أو ترك العين أو مطالبة المالك بأي تعويض عن الإزعاج إلا بقدر ما تحول به الحقوق القانونية في التعويض دون سريان هـذا الحكـم

#### ٩-٨ إزالة ممتلكات المستأجر

A-P-I إذا أخلى المستأجر العين بعد تاريخ الانتهاء، أو بعد تاريخ الإنهاء المبكر لعقد الإيجار، وترك بعض ممتلكاته في العين، ولم يفلح المستأجر في إزالتها قبل تسليم المفاتيح إلى المالك، فيحق للمالك ودون حاجة إلى توجيه إنذار خطي أو أي إنذار آخر للمستأجر، وبصفته وكيلا عن المستأجر أن يبيع هذه الممتلكات ويحتفظ بعائد البيع بعد أن يخصم منه تكاليف ومصروفات إزالة، وتخزين، وبيع الممتلكات على نحو معقول ويضعها لأمر المستأجر.

A-P-1 يلتزم المستأجر بتعويض المالك وإبقائه بمنأى عن أي التزامات تترتب على المالك تجاه أي طرف آخر بيعت ممتلكاته عن طريق المالك وكان المالك يعتقد بحسن نية وبطريق الخطأ (وهـو أمر مفترض ما لم يثبت العكس) أنها تعود للمستأجر، وأنه يجب التعامل معها وفقا لأحكام هذا البند الفرعى.

#### ٨-١ مواقف السيارات

يحق للمستأجر وضيوفه وزائريه وطيلة مدة الإيجار استخدام مواقف السيارات بشكل غير حصري ودون حجزها لله وبالاشتراك مع المالك والمستأجرين الآخرين في المنطقة الحرة بمطار دبي شريطة التقيد بقواعد ولوائح استخدامها الصادرة عن المالك بين حين وآخر. ويحتفظ المالك بحقه في تخصيص مساحات من مواقف السيارات داخل المبنى أو في أماكن مجاورة للمستأجر ووكلائه وموظفه.

#### ٨-١١ الإخطارات

يجب أن يكون أي إخطار أو مراسلات أو طلبات يجب تقديمها أو توجيهها من المالك أو المستأجر أو المسجل، إلى أي منهما بموجب عقد الإيجار في صورة خطية، وأن تسلم شخصيا أو ترسل بالبريد المسجل، أو عن طريق شركات البريد السريع، أو بالبريد الإلكتروني أو بالفاكس، إلى الطرف الموجه إليه هذا الإخطار وعلى العنوان المبين في عقد الإيجار (أو على أي عنوان آخر يخطره به الطرف الأخر خطيا). ويعتبر الإخطار أو المراسلات أو الطلبات قد تم استلامها بعد ٧ (سبعة) أيام من تاريخ إيداعها بالبريد

#### ٨-٤ التحسينات

يحق للمالك ومن حين لأخر وبغرض تحسين المنافع العامة للمبنى و/أو المنطقة الحرة بمطار دبي أن يجري تحسينا، أو توسعة بأي شكل كان أو تبديلاً أو التعامــل مـع المبنــى و/أو المنطقة الحرة بمطار دبي وإجراء أي تعديلات أو تغييرات مـع مراعاة بخل المالك مـا بوسعه مــن جهـد لتقليل إزعاج المستأجر بقدر المستطاع عنـد ممارسته لهـخا الحق. وإذا ارتأى المالـك ضرورة لنقـل المستأجر مــن العيــن الخاصة بـه فعلــى المالـك توفيـر العيـن البديلـة للمستأجر وعلــى حسـاب المالـك بحيـث تكــون العيــن البديلـة بتجهيــزات تعـادل معاييــر مشـابهة لتلـك التــي فــي العيــن التــي يشــغلها المســتأجر. ويوافق المســتأجر علــى أنــه لا يســتحق أي تعويـض عـن هــذا النقـل باســتثناء مــا ورد فــي هــذه الأحــكام.

#### ٨-٥ المنافسة

مـا مـن شـيء فـي سـياق عقـد الإيجـار أو أي مفاوضات أفضت إلـى ان عقـد الإيجـار يمكـن تفسـيره علـى أنـه تعهـد أو وعـد مـن المالـك يفـرض قيـدا علـى المالـك بـأي شـكـل مـن الأشـكـال علـى تأجيـره لأي مبنـى آخـر أو أى عيـن أخـرى لأى منافس للمسـتأجر سـواء بشـكـل مـباشـر أو غيـر مباشـر.

#### ٦-٨ النزاع بين المستأجرين

إذا نشب أي نزاع أو خلاف في أي وقت بين المستأجر وغيره من المستأجرين أو سكان المبنى و/ أو الشبك، أو المنطقة الحرة بمطار دبي بشأن البالوعات، أو الأنابيب، أو المصارف، أو المجاري، أو الأسلاك، أو الماليت، أو المسالف، أو القنوات، أو مجاري الكابلات، أو المداخن، أو القنوات، ومجاري الماء (أن وجد) التي تخدم العين أو يحق لها الانتفاع بها أو تؤثر على العين والمبنى و/أو المنطقة الحرة بمطار دبي، فإن المالك يتخذ قراره بشأن هذا النزاع أو الخلاف، وبعتبر قرار المالك في هذا الخصوص ملزما للمستأجر.

#### ٧-٨ الإعفاء من الالتزام الخاص بالخدمات

لا يتحمل المالك أي مسئولية تجاه المستأجر عن أي خسائر، أو أضرار، أو إزعاج ينتج عن:

١-٧-٨ الانقطاع المؤقت في الخدمات أثناء فترات الفحص، أو الصيانة، أو الإصلاح؛ أو

0-4-1 أي تعطل أو خلل يقع على المعدات والآلات أو الخدمات أو البالوعات، أو الأنابيب، أو المصارف، أو المجاري، أو الأسلاك، أو الهاتف، أو أسلاك التلغراف، أو شبكات التوصيل، او أخاديد الصرف، أو القنوات، أو مجاري الكابلات، أو المداخن، القنوات، ومجاري الماء (إن وجد) في العين والمبنى و/أو المنطقة الحرة بمطار دبي؛

#### ٦-٢-١ يشمل التعبير "إعسار" في البند ٢-١-٣ من الجزء الثاني ما يلي:

(۱) (إذا كان المستأجر أو الضامنه شركة أو مؤسسة) فإن ذلك بشمل عدم قدرة الشركة على

الوفاء بديونها، أو دخولها في تصفية قسـرية أو طوعيـة (باسـتثناء التصفيـة لأغـراض الاندمـاج أو إعـادة الهيكـلـة)، أو تمريـر قـرار بتصفيتهـا، أو تقديــم عــرض بيــن الشــركة ودائنيهـا لتســوية ديونهـا، أو خطــة تصالـح للوقايـة مــن الإفـلاس، أو تنفيــذ المحكمــة لأي أمــر إداري ، أو تعييــن حــارس قضائــي؛ و

(٢) (إذا كان الضامــن فـردا) فـإن ذلــك يشــمل تقديــم عريضــة إفــلاس، أو إذا عــرض علــى دائنيــه تســوية لديونــه، أو خطــة تصالـح للـوقايــة مــن إفلاســه، أو تنفيــذ أي محكمــة لأي أمــر مؤقــت، وتعييــن حـارس قضائــي أو حــارس قضائــى مــؤقــت.

## ٧. تبعات إنهاء عقد الإيجار

دون إخلال بأي حقـوق أخـرى يكفلهـا القانـون للمالـك، وإذا أنهـى المالـك عقـد الإيجـار، فـإن إجمالـي القيمـة الإيجارية عـن مـدة الإيجـار تصبح مسـتحقة وواجبـة السـداد، ويصـادر المالـك كافـة المبالـغ الـتي دفعهـا المسـتأجر، ويصبح للمالـك أو وكيلـه المفـوض) الحـق القانونـي والاسـتحقاق فـي الدخـول للعيـن، واسـتعادة حيازته لهـا، وحيـازة كافـة الممتلـكات الكائنـة بهـا، وإيجـار العيـن لأخريـن، والتصـرف مـن هـخه الممتلـكات الكائنـة بهـا، وإيجـار العيـن لأخريـن، والتصـرف مـن هـخه الممتلـكات الكائنـة بالعيـن وفقـا لأحـكـام البنـد ٨-٩ مـن الجـزء الثانـى الحالـى.

# ٨. أحكام عامة

### ۱-۸ العقارات المجاورة

A-۱-۱ يحق للمالك التعامـل بالشـكل الـذي يـراه مناسـبا مـع العقـارات المجـاورة أو القريبـة مـن العيـن التابعـة للمالـك، ولـه أن ينشـئ أو يسـمح بإنشـاء أى مبانـى أو إنشـاءات أخـرى علـى هــذه العقـارات

٢-١-٨ يحق للمالك وبشكل دائم ودون الحصول على أي موافقة من المستأجر أن يقوم بالتعديل، أو إعادة الإنشاء، أو التعديل بأي شكل كان، أو تغيير استخدام المناطق المشتركة طالما كانت سبل الدخول المناسبة إلى العين والخروج منها متوفرة، وكانت الخدمات الضرورية متاحة فى كل حين.

#### ۲-۸ سياسة الإيجار

يحدد المالك وبإرادته المنفردة الأسعار الإيجارية لمختلف العيـون بالمنطقة الحرة بمطـار دبـي. وقـد تختلـف هـذه الأسعار الإيجارية مـن عيـن لأخـرى نظـرا لعـدة عوامـل متغيـرة مثـل الموقع، وحجـم المبنـى، ونـوع النشـاط، والمصالح المشـتركة بـيـن المالـك والمسـتأجرين.

#### ۳-۸ تعدیل رسوم الخدمة

#### ٥-،٢ إزالة النفايات

يلتزم المستأجر بألا يسمح بتراكم أي نفايات بالعين، أو المناطق المشتركة، أو أي جزء من المنطقة الحرة بمطار دبي، وعليه التأكد دوما من إزالة النفايات والفضلات من العين إلى المواقع التي يحددها المالك بين حين وآخر. ويتعين على يحددها المالك بين حين وآخر. ويتعين على المستأجر ضمان أن كافة نفايات المطبخ والنفايات الداخلية يتم تغليفها في أكياس نفايات من البولييثين قبل شحنها. وفي حالة تقصير المستأجر، يقوم المالك بإزالة هذه النفايات على حساب المستأجر، ولا يجوز للمستخدم أن ينقل النفايات من خلال مصاعد/ وسائل نقل الركاب

## ٥-١٦ الأجهزة الإذاعية المحظورة

لا يحق للمستأجر تشييد أو استخدام أي أجهزة راديو، أو تلفاز، أو أي سماعات صاخبة أخرى، أو شاشات، أو تلفاز، أو هوائي التلفاز، أو هوائي أو مستقبل فضائي، أو أي أجهزة أو معدات أخرى شبيهة خارج أو الخلل العين أو المبنى أو على سطح العين و/أو المبنى دون موافقة خطية مسبقة من المالك، ولا استخدام أو السماح باستخدام أي مذياع، أو فونوغراف، أو تلفاز، أو ما شابه من الوسائل أو المعدات التى يمكن سماعها من خارج العين، أو إذاعة أى بث صوتى أو مرئى.

# ٦. إنهاء عقد الإيجار

I-1 لا يحق للمستأجر فسخ عقد الإيجار أو إنهاءه لمجرد الرغبة بذلك. وهذا يعني أنه يتعين على المستأجر شغل العين المؤجرة ودفع إجمالي القيمة الإيجارية طيلة مدَّة الإيجار. ليس لدى المؤجر أي التزام بالموافقة على أي طلبات لإنهاء الإيجار المبكر. إذا منح المؤجر موافقته على إنهاء الإيجار المبكر (مع العلم أن المؤجر ليس ملزماً بالموافقة على الإطلاق)، فلن يتم منح هذه الموافقة إلا بشروط يحددها المؤجر بإرادته المنفردة. تشمل هذه الشروط (على سبيل المثال لا الحصر) ضرورة دفع غرامات الإنهاء المبكر، وغرامات فترة الإخطار، وغرامات المعاملة التفضيلية (القيمة الإيجارية ورسوم الخدمة والفترة المجانية)، ورسوم فسخ العقد وفقًا لما يقدرها المؤجر

- ٢-٦ للمالك أن ينهى عقد الإيجار قبل تاريخ الانتهاء في الحالات التالية:
- ٢-٦-١ إذا بقيت هنــاك أي مبالـغ مســتحقة بموجـب عقــد الإيجـار لمــدة ٣٠ (ثلاثيـن) يومــا بعــد اســتحقاق ســدادهـا (ســواء طُلــت بشــكـل رســمـى أم لا)؛ أو
- ٢-٢-٦ أي نواحي أخرى مـن إخلال المسـتأجر بشـروط عقـد الإيجـار (غيـر عـدم سـداد أي مبالـغ)، ولـم يفلـح المسـتأجر فـي إصـلاح هـــذا الإخـلال فـي غضـون ١٤ (أربعـة عشــر) يومــا مــن إخطـار المالــك لــه خطـيـا بهــذا الإخـلال؛ أو
  - ٣-٢-٦ إذا تعرض المستأجر لإعسار أو تعرض اي من ضامنيه لإعسار؛ أو
  - ٦-٢-٦ إذا تنازل المستأجر عن العين أو أجرها من الباطن بأي شكل أيا كان بما يخالف عقد الإيجار؛ أو
- ٦-٦-٥ إذا أصبحت العين شاغرة أو مهجورة لمدة ٣٠ (ثلاثين) يوما أو أكثر، وتعذر الوصول للمستأجر، أو غادر البلاد دون إخطار المالك، وتوصل المالك لقناعة بأن الظروف توحي بهجر المستأجر للعين

#### ٥-١٦ ميلغ التأمين

- ٥-١٦-١ يدفع المستأجر للمالك مبلغ مساو لمبلغ التأمين في أو قبل تاريخ عقد الإيجار.
  - مبلغ التأمين %10 من قيمة الإيجار ب الدرهم.
- ٥-١٦-٦ يحتفظ المالك يميلغ التأمين كضمان لأية مسؤوليات يتجملها المستأجر وفقاً لعقد الايجار.
- ٥-٦١-٣ يجوز للمالك سحب مبلغ التأمين في حال أعطى المالك المستأجر إشعاراً بالتقصير وفشـل المستأجر فـى معالجة التقصير حسـب رضا المالك.
- ه-١٦-3 في حال سحب المالك لمبلغ التأمين ، يتوجب على المستأجر بناء على طلب المالك سداد مبلغ مساو لمبلغ التأمين المسحوب بحيث يعاه مبلغ التأمين إلى المبلغ الأصلى.
- ٥-١٦- إذا لم يكن مبلغ التأمين كافياً لتغطية أية مطالبات أو تكاليف تكبدها المالك وفقاً لعقد الإيجار (بما في ذلك وليس على سبيل الحصر تكاليف المحامي ورسوم المحكمة والايجارات والخدمات الغير مدفوعة وتكاليف إعادة العقار إلى الوضع السابق وتكاليف الإصلاح أو أية تكاليف أخرى) يقوم المستأجر بدفعها بشكل فورى إلى المالك بناء على طلبه.
- מ-٦-١٦ لا يجوز للمستأجر عمـل مقاصة بين مبلغ التأمين وبين أية مبالغ إيجاريه أو رسـوم خدمـات. أو ضريبـة القيمـة المضافـة فـى حـال تطبيقهـا.
- ٥-١-٧ يقوم المالك بإعادة مبلغ التأمين إلى المستأجر بعد (٣) ثلاثة أشهر من تاريخ انتهاء عقد الايجار أو الإنهاء المبكر ، وذلك بعد استقطاع أية مبالغ لازمة لتسوية أية مطالبات أو مصاريف مستحقة للمالك على المستأجر.
  - ٥-١٦-٨ سوف يتم إعادة مبلغ التأمين إلى المستأجر وفقاً للفقرة ٧،١٦،٥ يدون أنة فوائد أو أرياح.

#### ٥-١٧ اعادة تأحير العين

يلتزم المستأجر بـأن يسـمح لكافـة الأشـخاص المخوليـن مـن المالـك أو وكلائـه لمعاينـة العيـن فـي أوقـات معقولـة دون قطـع الاسـتخدام المسـموح بـه لأغـراض إعـادة تأجيـر العيـن.

#### ٥-١٨ قواعد المينى والمجمع

على المستأجر الالتزام بأي قواعد تتعلق بالمبنى و/أو المنطقة الحرة بمطار دبي ويتبناها المالك أو يعدلها مـن حيـن لآخـر، وعليـه العمـل علـى إلـزام كافـة وكلائـه، وموظفيـه، ومدعويـه، وزائريـه بهـذا. وفـي حـال طـرأ أي تغييـرات علـى هـذه القواعـد فسـيوافي المالـك المسـتأجر بهـا خطيـا.

#### ٥-١٩ الأمان

 ه-۲۰۱۱ لا يجوز للمستأجر التسبب في أي إعاقة داخل أو حول المبنى والمناطق الأخرى مـن المنطقة الحرة بمطار دبى.

#### ٥-١٢ مكافحة الأفات

يجب على المستأجر وعلى حسابه الخاص وبما يرضي المالك القيام بكافة الاحتياطات اللازمة لإبقاء العيـن خاليـة مـن كافـة الحشـرات، والقـوارض، والأفات، وغيرهـا مـن الحيوانـات، والأمـراض فـي جميـع الأوقـات ، وإذا لـزم أو بنـاء علـى طلـب المالـك، فعليـه اسـتخدام القائميـن بإبـادة الأفـات الذيـن يوافـق عليهـم المالـك خدمـات مقاومـة الأفات التـي عليهـم المالـك خدمـات مقاومـة الأفات التـي يراهـا مناسبة لمبانـي المكاتب فقـط وليـس للمسـتودعات أو قطـع الأراضـي.

#### ٥-١٣ الالتزام بالقوانين

- 0-۱۳-۱ يتعيــن علــى المســتأجر الالـــزام مــن كافـة النواحــي بأحـكام التشــريعات، والمراســيم، والمنشــورات، والأوامــر، والقواعــد، والنظــم الداخليــة، واللوائــح النافــفة مــن حيــن لأخــر، ومتطلبــات أي ســلطة مختصة فيمـا يتعلـق بالعيــن أو بأي شــيء يقـوم بـه المســتأجر فيهـا أو عليهـا، وتعويـض المالـك عـــن أي التزامــات تترتــب علــى عـــدم الــــزام المســـتأجر بهــا.
- ۰-۱۳-۹ وعلى وجه التحديد، ودون التأثير على عمومية نفاذ ما سبق ذكره أعلاه، على المستأجر الاستارات المستأجر الالتزام بمتطلبات أي تشريعات، أو مراسيم، أو منشورات، أو قواعد، أو أوامر، أو نظم داخلية، أو لوائح حالية او مستقبلية تتعلق باستخدام أو إشغال العين أو غير ذلك مما يتعلق بها.

#### ٥-١٤ الالتزام بمتطلبات التخطيط والمتطلبات البيئية

- •عا-ا على المستأجر الوفاء والتقيـد بمتطلبـات التشـريعات والنظـم المتعلقـة بالتخطيـط وحمايـة البيئـة النافذة على العيـن، والحصـول علـى أي تطويـر أو موافقـة أو تصريح أو رخصـة أخـرى بسـبب تطويـر أو أسـلوب اسـتخدام المسـتأجر للعيـن.
- ٥-١٤- يلتزم المستأجر بتعويض المالـك عن أي التزام يترتب على عـدم التزام المسـتأجر بالحصـول علـى. أى تطويـرات مسـبقة أو أى موافقات أو تصاريح أو رخص أخـرى أو الالـتزام بالمتطلبات التشـريعية والنظاميـة.

#### ٥-١٥ التعويض

- ٥-١-١٥ يلتـزم المسـتأجر بتعويـض المالـك والعمـل علـى تعويضـه دومـا عـن أي التـزام يترتـب علـى أي حـادث، أو خسـارة، أو ضـرر للأشـخاص أو الممتلـكات فـى أو علـى العــن.
- ٥-٥١- يلتزم المستأجر بتعويض المالك والعمـل على تعويضه دومـا عـن أي التزام يتكبـده المالـك تجـاه أي طـرف آخـر بسـبب انتهـاك الـمسـتأجـر الاتزاماتـه بعقـد الإيجـار.
- 0-0-٣ يلتـزم المسـتأجر بتعويـض المالـك والعمـل علـى تعويضـه دومـا عـن أي وكافـة المطالبـات، والقضايا، وعـن كافـة التكاليف، والخسـائر، والمصروفات، والأضرار التـي يتكبدهـا أو يتعـرض لهـا المالـك نتيجـة للإنهـاء المبكـر لعقـد الإيجـار.

- (١٣) التحميـل الزائد علـى المصاعـد/ أو الرافعـات، أو التركيبـات الكهربائيـة أو البالوعـات، أو الأنابيـب، أو المصارف، أو المجاري، أو الأسلاك، أو الهاتف، أو أسلاك التلغـراف، أو شبكات التوصيل، او أخاديـد الصرف، أو القنـوات، أو المادف، أو المداخن، معـدات، ومجاري الماء (إن وجـد) فـي العيـن، أو المبنـى و/ أو أي أجـزاء أخـرى بالمنطقـة الحـرة بمطـار دبـى؛
- (31) القيام أو السهو عن القيام بأي شيء يتداخل مع أو يفرض أحمالا إضافية على أي معدات للتهوية أو التدفئة أو تكييف الهواء، أو أي معدات أو آلات أخرى تخدم المبنى، أو العين و/أو أي جزء آخر بالمنطقة الحرة بمطار دبي؛
  - (١٥) السماح لأى شخص بالنوم في العين ولا باستخدام العين لأغراض سكنية؛
    - (١٦) وضع أي بضائع أو منصات أو فوارغ تجارية أو فضلات أو أي عوائق أخرى؛
- (١٧) وضع أو ترك أو تركيب أي مـواد، أو بضائع، أو سـلع، أو غيرهـا مـن الأشياء أمـام العين، أو المبنـى، أو فـى أى مـكان آخر خارج العـن؛
- (١٨) السماح لموظفي الغير بالتدخين داخل العين، أو في أي مكان آخر داخل المنطقة الحرة بمطار دبى غير المكان المخصص للتدخين ؛
  - (١٩) تغيير أقفال العين حيث أن هذا الأمر منوط بالمالك فقط؛ و
- (٢٠) تركيـب أي كاميـرات مراقبـة سـواء داخـل أي مكتـب أو فـي المدخـل أو علـى الواجهـات الخارجيـة للعيـن.

#### ٥-١ الاعلانات واللوحات

- ٥-١-١ لا يجوز للمستأجر ودون موافقة خطية مسبقة من المالك (وفقا لارادة المالك المطلقة) وضع أو عـرض أو تثبيت أي اسـم، أو كتابـة، أو إشـعار، أو علامـة، أو علامـة مضيئـة، أو عـرض ضوئـي، أو لافتـة، أو ملصقـات، أو إعـلان آخـر علـى الواجهـة الخارجيـة للعيـن أو المبنـى أو النوافـذ أو داخـل العيـن وتكـون مرئيـة مـن خارجهـا بخـلاف مـا يلـي:
  - (۱) ما يوافق عليه المالك خطيا وبمحض ارادته المطلقة من هذه العلامات ؛ و
- (٢) إذا كان اسم المستأجر على أو بالقرب مـن أبـواب مداخـل العين فـي شـكـل وبأسـلوب يوافق عليـه أو بسـتلزمه المالك.
- ٥-١٠٠٨ للمالك أن يقدم الخيار للمستأجر بعـرض علامـات فـي أي مواقـع أخـرى يحددهـا المالـك بيـن حين وآخـر بالمنطقة الحرة بمطار دبي. وإذا اختار المستأجر قبـول عـرض المالـك بعـرض هـذه العلامـات في تلـك المواقع، فيتعين علـى المسـتأجر أن يدفع أتعابـا إضافية للمالـك وفقـا للأسعار التـي يحددهـا المالـك بـن حـن وآخـر.

#### ٥-١١ التحميل والتسليم

٥-١١-١ لا يجــوز للمســتأجر تحميــل أو تفريــغ المركبــات إلا فــي مناطــق الخدمــة أو مناطــق التحميـــل المخصصــة لهـــذا الغــرض. ه-٨-٣ على المستأجر أن يضمن التزام موظفيه دوما بالنظافة وحسن المظهر والملبس وتصرفهم بشكل مهنى وعملى أثناء تواجدهم بالعين.

#### ٥-٩ قيود استخدام العين:

- ٥-٩-١ يلتزم المستأجر بأن ينأى عما يلى:
- (۱) تثبيت أو تركيب أي محرك، أو فرن، أو معدة، أو آلـة علـى العيـن بمـا يسـبب ضجيجـا أو دخانـا أو اهـتـزازا بمـا يمكـن سـماعه أو شـمه أو الشـعور بـه مـن خـارج العيـن؛
  - (٢) تخزين أي مواد بترولية أو مواد أخرى قابلة للاشتعال أو الانفجار أو أي مواد قابلة للاحتراق بالعين؛
- (٣) التخلص مـن أي فضلات صناعية إلا إذا تـم ذلـك بشـكـل سـليـم ودون الإضـرار بالبيئـة وبمـا يتغـق مـع أى قواعـد أو لوائح يصدرهــا المالـك بيـن حيـن وآخـر؛
  - (٤) الاحتفاظ أو السماح بأي مواد مخدرة، أو عقاقير، أو مواد كحولية أو ما شابه من المواد بالعين؛
- (٥) السـماح باسـتخدام أي منطقـة كمطبـخ أو منطقـة لتحضيـر أو طبخ الأطعمـة (الا إذا كان الاسـتخدام المسـموح بـه للعيـن وفقـا لمـا نصـت عليـه تفاصيـل الإيجـار هــو لأغـراض الأغذيـة والمشـروبات، فعندهــا يمكــن اسـتخدام العيـن لتحضيـر وطبـخ الأطعمــة)؛
- (٦) الســماح باســتخدام العيــن لتخزيــن الصناديــق، والتوريــدات، وغيرهــا مــن المــواد بغــض النظــر عــن ارتباطهــا أو أهـميتهــا للاســتخدام المســموح بــه للعيــن (إلا إذا كان الاســتخدام المســموح بــه للعيــن والمحــدد بتفاصيــل الإيجــار هـــو كوحــدة تخزيــن وفــي هـــذه الحالــة يجــوز اســتخدام العيــن لتخزيــن هـــذه الأصنــاف)
- (٧) التلاعب بأنظمة الحماية مـن الحريق أو سـوء اسـتخدامها فـي المبنـى بمـا فـي ذلـك دون حصـر أي مـن وحـدات اكتشـاف الدخـان، وأحهـزة مـكافحـة الحرــق، ونقـاط الاتصـال الــدوى بحـرس الحرــق؛
  - (٨) استخدام ما يعرض لمخاطر الحريق في العين بما في ذلك دون حصر الشمع ومحارق البخور؛
- (٩) استخدام العين في أي أعمـال ضارة، أو تسـبب ضجيجا، أو أعمـال عدوانية ولا لأي أغـراض غيـر قانونيـة أو غيـر أخلاقيـة؛
- (١٠) تجاوز حدود السرعة التي يضعها المالك أو أي سلطات مختصة عند القيادة داخل المنطقة الحرة بمطار دبى، أو عدم إعطاء أولوية للمشاة؛
- (II) القيام بـأي شــيء فـي العيــن مــن شــأنه أو قـد يصبح مصـدرا للضوضاء، أو الإزعـاج، أو المضايقـة، أو عـدم الارتياح، أو تسبيب أضـرار للمالـك أو أي مــن المسـتأجرين الأخريـن بالمبنــى، أو مـلاك، أو ســكان، أو شـاغلـى العقـارات المجـاورة فــى المنطقـة الحـرة بمطـار دبــى؛
- (۱۲) تحميـل، أو اســتخدام الطوابـق، أو الحوائـط، أو الأسـقف، أو هيــكل العيــن و/أو المبنــى بمــا يســبب إجهـادا أو ضررا أو تدخلا بالأجـزاء الإنشـائية، أو هيــكل تحميـل الأحمـال، أو السـطح، أو الأساســات، أو العوارض والحوائـط الخار حــة للعبــن و/أو المبنــى؛

(٢) التأمين ضد الغير باسم مشترك لكل من المالك والمستأجر؛ و

(٣) التأميـن ضـد كافـة مخاطـر المقـاول، وتعويضـات العمـال فـي حالـة قيـام المسـتأجر أو وكيلـه أو مقاوليـه بتنفيـذ أي أعمـال إنشـائية فـي العيـن، وباســم مسـتفيد مشـترك بيـن المالـك والمسـتأجر ووفقـا للمتطلــات القانونــة والتنظـمــة.

في حالـة عـدم الحصـول علـى والحفـاظ علـى سـريان التأمينـات المشـار إليهـا أعـلاه، فعندئـَـذ ودرءا لأي شـك، فـإن المسـتأجر يتحمـل وحـده نقـص التغطيـة التأمينيـة عـن المـدة غير المغطـاة.

٥-٦-٦ على المستأجر تزويد المالك بنسخ من وثائق التأمين المذكورة ودليلا على سداد أقساطها بناء على المستأجر بناء على طلب المالك، وفي حالة تسجيل المستأجر لأغراض الترخيص، فيتعين على المستأجر تقديم النسخ الأصلية من وثائق التأمين هذه للمالك، مع التقيد دائما بأنه إذا أخفق المستأجر في التأمين على أو الحفاظ على سريان التأمين على العين على النحو سالف الذكر، فيحق للمالك أن يقوم، بذلك عن المستأجر ويسترد قيمة هذه التأمينات من المستأجر.

٥-١-٣ يوافق المستأجر على استخدام كافة عوائد التأمين التي يحصل عليها في حالة تعرض العين للضرر أو التدمير وبأسرع ما يمكن في إعادة إنشاء أو رد العين إلى نفس حالتها التي كانت عليها أو بمقاييس مماثلة لما كانت عليه قبل تعرضها للضرر أو الهدم.

#### ٥-٧ حق المالك في المعاينة وحق الإصلاح

إذا اكتُشف أثناء معاينة العين وجود أي إخلال بالالتزامات المقررة بموجب عقد الإيجار أو أي عيوب، أو تلف، أو إزالة أي تركيبات، أو أي تعديلات أو إضافات غير مصرح بها بالعين، ووفقاً لحق المالك في معاينة العين كما نص عليه البند ٣-١-١ من الجزء الثاني، فعندها وبموجب إخطار من المالك، معاينة العين كما نص عليه البند ٣-١-١ من الجزء الثاني، فعندها وبموجب إخطار من المالك وخلال يتعين على المستأجر إجراء كافة أعمال الإصلاح والاستبدال أو الإزالة اللازمة بما يرضي المالك وخلال شهر واحد (۱) أو قبل ذلك إذا اقتضت الضرورة) بعد استلام هذا الإخطار. وإذا أخفق المستأجر في الالتزام بهذا الإخطار، فيحق للمالك بنفسه أو عن طريق عماله أو موظفيه أو وكلائه دخول العين وتنفيذ كافة الإصلاحات أو الأعمال أو الاستبدال أو الإزالة اللازمة أو مرغوب بها. وعلى المستأجر أن يدفع للمالك عند الطلب كافة المصاريف التي تكبدها الأخير جراء ذلك.

#### ٥-٨ الاستخدام المسموح به

٥-٨-١ لا يجوز للمستأجر استخدام العين إلا للغرض المسموح به والمبين بعقد الإيجار. ولن يتحمل المالك أي مسئولية من أي نوع تجاه إفادة المستأجر بأي من هذه المتطلبات، ويبقى ذلك تحت المسئولية الكاملة للمستأجر.

٥-٨-٢ يتعين على المستأجر تنفيذ أعماله بالعين بأسلوب مهني، وباللياقة المناسبة، ووفقا لأعلى المعايير الأخلاقية التي يضعها المالك لأنشطته، وعليه عند استلام أي إشعار من المالك بإيقاف أي أعمال أو ممارسات يعتبرها المالك غير مناسبة أو غير ملائمة بالعين.

للاستخدام أو تعرضهـا للهـدم بتجهيـزات أو تركيبـات ذات طبيعـة وجـودة مشـابهة أو أحـدث ممـا تـم اسـتبداله. كمـا يلتـزم المسـتأجر أيضا بضمـان نظافـة كافـة نوافـذ العيـن مـرة واحـدة شـهريا علـى الأقـل ولعـدد أكبـر مـن المـرات حسـبما تقتضـى الضـرورة

#### ٥-٥ الديكورات والتجهيزات

- 0-0-1 مـع عـدم الإخلال بـأي متطلبـات تقتضيهـا موافقـات أي مــن الســلطة المختصـة (إذا لـزم)، فللمستأجر وعلـى حسابه الخاص (ومع مراعاة الحصول علـى موافقـة خطية مـن المالك بعد تقديم كافـة المســتندات ذات الصلـة ومـن بينهـا علـى سبيل المثال وليـس الحصـر: عقـود العمـل ذات الصلـة، والتصميمـات التفصيليـة، والمخططـات، والرســومات الخطيـة، والمواصفـات، والجـداول التــي يطلبهـا المالـك) الحــق فــي تجهيــز، وإعـادة تنظيــم، وتزييــن، والإضافـة، والتحســينات والاســتبدال لــكل أو جـزء من العيـن بيـن حيـن وآخر بحسب مـا يـراه المســتأجر مستحسـنا شـريطة أن يتـم ذلك بأسـلوب بـارع، وباســتخدام، مــواد ذات جــودة عالـيـة. ويحـق للمســتأجر وضـع وتركيب مقتنيـات شـخصية، أو تجهيـزات ومعـدات تجاريـة وتركيبـات مؤقتـة فــى وعلــى العيـن وتثبيـت مـا ســبق بالعيـن.
- ٥-٥-٣ وفيمـا يخـص كافـة الأعمـال المنفـذة بالعيـن، فيتعيـن علـى المسـتأجر ضمـان الحفـاظ علـى نظافـة المناطق المشـتركة، وترتيبهـا وخلوهـا مـن أي عوائق علـى الـدوام، وكذلـك ضمـان إزالـة كافـة النفايـات، والأنقـاض، وغير ذلـك مـن الفضلات مـن المبنـى بمجـرد الانتهـاء مـن إنجـاز هـذه الأعمـال ووفقـا لتعليمـات المالـك.
- ٥-٥- يلتـزم المسـتأجر بالحفـاظ علـى حسـن مظهـر الجوانـب الداخليـة للعيـن والظاهـرة مـن خـارج العيـن، وتأثيثهـا أثاثـا حسـن المظهـر، والحفـاظ علـى نظافـة النوافـذ، وكسـائها بشـكل ملائـم وجـذاب وبمـا يرضـي المالـك علـى نحـو معقـول وبمـا يتناسـب مـع أناقـة ونظـام والجـودة العاليـة فـي المنطقـة الحـرة بمطـار دبـى.

#### ٥-١ التأمين

- ٥-٦- يتعين على المستأجر وعلى حسابه الخاص الحصول على والحفاظ على سريان تأمين بالمبالغ والشروط ولدى شركة التأمين التي ترضي المالك على نحو معقول وعلى مـدار مـدة العقد، ضـد المخاطر التالية وغيرها مـن المخاطر التى يحددها المالك بين حين وآخر:
- (۱) التأميـن ضـد كافـة المخاطـر بمـا يغطـي العيـن، وكافـة أصـول المسـتأجر الكائنـة بالعيـن وبقيمـة اسـتبدال اعتبارا مـن تاريخ فقـد اسـتخدام العيـن حتـى يتـم إعـادة تجهيزهـا لإشـغال المسـتأجر لهـا؛ و

٥-١-١ يلتـزم المسـتأجر بدفـع إجمالـي القيمـة الإيجاريـة المكفولـة بموجـب عقـد الإيجـار بـدون مــن أي خصومـات أو أى حـق بالمقاصـة مــن أى نــوع، وبحسـب المواعيــد المحــددة بعقــد الإيجـار.

--n يلتزم المستأجر بدفع أي وكل المبالغ المستحقة للمالك - إن وجـدت- بموجـب عقـد الإيجـار، وفـى المواعيـد وبالطريقـة المحـددة لـكل بنـد منهـا.

#### ٥-٢ التأخر في السداد والأتعاب

o-I-r في حال عدم سداد أي من دفعات الأجرة الإجمالية أو أي من المبالغ الأخرى المستحقة السداد وفقاً لعقد الايجار وفقاً لعدم الله وبالإضافة إلى دفعة الإيجار وفقاً لعقد الايجار والمستحقة ، يتوجب على المستأجر سداد مبلغ إلى المؤجر وقدره (....٣) ثلاثة الاف درهم عن كل شهر يتأخر فيه عن السداد («التعويض») .

ه-٢-٢ يلتـزم المســتأجر بدفـع التعويــض عــن أي فتــرة يرفـض خلالهــا المالــك قبــول عــرض المســتأجر للســداد بســبب انتهــاك أى مــن التزامــات المســتأجر بموجــب عقــد الإيجــار.

٥-٦-٣ في حالة ارتداد أي شيك قدمه المستأجر للمالك سدادا لإجمالي القيمة الإيجارية، أو أي مبالغ أخرى مستحقة بموجب عقد الإيجار، من بنك المالك بسبب عدم توفر الأموال أو "إيقاف الدفع"، أو لأي سبب آخر، فيتعين على المستأجر في هذه الحالة أن يدفع للمالك رسوم ارتداد الشيكات بواقع ...، ادرهم إماراتي لكل حالة

#### ٥-٣ التراخيص والموافقات

٥-٣-١ على المستأجر الحصول على والحفاظ على سريان رخصته التجارية خلال فترة عقد ايجار وأن يسدد قيمتها وكذلك أي تراخيص تجارية أو موافقات أخرى تتطلبها الجهات المختصة من المستأجر لمباشرة الاستخدام أو الأنشطة المسموح بها بالعين وفي المنطقة الحرة بمطار دبي، كما يلتزم بدفع ومخالصة كافة الأسعار ، والضرائب، والتقييمات، والرسوم الجمركية ، والرسوم المقيمة، أو المفروضة على المالك أو المستحقة عليه أو على المستأجر عن العين.

۰-۳-۵ يقـر المسـتأجر ويوافـق علـى عـدم تحمـل المالـك أي مسـئولية تجـاه حصـول المسـتأجر علـى رخصتـه التجاريـة والحفـاظ علـى سـريانها أو الحصـول علـى أي تراخيـص تجاريـة أو موافقـات أخـرى.

#### ٥-٤ الصيانة والإصلاح

يلتزم المستأجر بالحفاظ على العين في حالة حسنة ونظيفة والحفاظ عليها، وعلى كافة تركيبات وتجهيزات المستأجر فيها، والحفاظ على حالة ذلك كله بحالة ووضع جيد وصيانتها ونظافتها طيلة مدة العقد وبما يتفق مع كافة لوائح الصحة والسلامة والبيئة، وعليه أن يستبدل فورا وعلى حسابه الخاص أيا من التركيبات أو التجهيزات العائدة للمستأجر والتى تتعرض للتلف أو الفقد أو صلاحيتها

وحـق الطريـق فـي أو علـى أو عبـر أو أعلـى أو تحـت تلـك الأجـزاء مـن العيـن التـي تقـع عليهـا خطـوط الأنابيب والمرافق، والمعـدات، والتركيبـات وغيرهـا مـن الممتلـكات وذلـك لأغـراض الصيانـة والتشـغيل والاصـلاح والاحـلال والإنشـاء والاسـتخدام؛

٣- ٢- للمالك حق انتفاع وحق الطريق على وفوق وتحت وعبر العين وحق الاستخدام لأغراض ممارسة أى من وكل حقوق المالك وأدائه لأى التزامات بموجب عقد الإيجار.

## 3. التزامات المالك

مع مراعاة دفع المستأجر لإجمالي القيمة الإيجارية، وأي مبالغ أخرى محفوظة بموجبه وبالأسلوب وفي الأوقات التي يقتضيها عقد الإيجار، والوفاء والالتزام بالالتزامات والشـروط الملقاة علـى عاتق المستأجر والتي يتعين عليه أدائها والوفاء بها طيلة مـدة الإيجار، فقد اتفق المالك والمسـتأجر علـى مـا يلـى:

#### ٤-١ التمتع الكامل بالعين

على المالك أن يسمح للمستأجر بالحيازة السلمية والتمتع الهادئ للعين طيلة مدة الإيجار؛

#### ٢-٤ التزامات المالك بالتأمين

يتعيــن علـــى المالــك وعلـــى حســابه الخــاص الحصــول والحفــاظ علـــى تأميــن ضـــد المخاطــر التاليــة والمخاطــر الأخــرى التـــى يحددهـــا المالــك طيلــة مـــدة الإيجــار وبيــن حيــن وآخــر:

- 3-٢-١ التأمين ضد كافة المخاطر لتغطية المبنى والمناطق المشتركة (باستثناء العين، وممتلكات المستأجر فى العين والأجزاء الأخرى من المبنى التى يشغلها مستأجرون آخرون)؛ و
  - 3-1-1 التأمين ضد الغير؛ و
- 3-٢-٣ التأميين ضـد كافـة مخاطـر المقـاول، وتعويضـات العمـال فـي حالـة قيـام المالـك أو وكيلـه أو مقاوليـه بتنفيـذ أي أعمـال إنشـائية فـي المبنــى، ووفقـا للمتطلبـات القانونيـة والتنظيميـة.

#### ٣-٤ الصبانة والأصلاح

يلتزم المالك بالحفاظ على هيكل المبنى وواجهاته الخارجية، وتركيبات وتجهيزات المالك، وكذلك المناطق المشتركة نظيفة وفى حالة ووضع جيد (ويتوقع ما يبلى منها بالاستخدام الطبيعى).

# ٥. التزامات المستأحر

يوافق المستأجر على ما يلى طيلة مدة الإيجار مع مراعاة الإنهاء المبكر لعقد الإيجار:

٥-١ دفع إحمالي القيمة الإيجارية.

- ٣-١-٤ كافة حقوق الانتفاع والمزايا وحقوق استخدام المناطق والمبانى المحاورة لاستخدامات العين.
  - ٣-٣ يخضع إيجار العين من المالك للمستأجر دوما لما يلى:
- ٣-١-١ للمالـك كامـل الحـق والحريـة وطيلـة مـدة الإيجـار وبموجـب إخطـار معقـول يوجهـه للمسـتأجر (باسـتثناء الحـالات الطارئـة حيـث لا يلـزم توجيـه أي إخطـار ويكـون الدخـول فـي كافـة الأوقـات) بالدخـول إلـى العيـن مـع أو بـدون أجهـزة وعمـال وغيـر ذلـك للأغـراض التاليـة:
- (۱) لمعاينـة حالـة ووضع العيـن، وإصلاح وصيانـة وتنظيف وتبديـل وتجديـد أو تركيب أي بالوعـات أو أنابيب أو مجاري أو صرف أو أسلاك أو توصيلات أو مجاري هـواء أو أخاديـد تصريف أو مجاري مائيـة (إن وجـد) ممـا يخـدم المبنـى أو أى جـزء آخر بالمنطقـة الحـرة بمطـار دبـى؛
  - (٢) لتعديل أو صيانة أو إصلاح المبنى أو أي جزء آخر في المنطقة الحرة بمطار دبي؛
- (٣) للوفاء بأي التزام تجاه أي طرف آخر لـه حقـوق قانونيـة فـي المبنـى أو العيـن وأي جـزء فـي المنطقـة الحـرة بمطار دبى؛
  - (٤) لممارسة أى حق أو الوفاء بأى التزام يتعلق بالإصلاح أو الصيانة أو التجديد بموجب عقد الإيجار؛
- (٥) لأمـر يتعلـق بتطويـر باقـي المبنـى أو أي جـزء مـن المنطقـة الحـرة بمطـار دبـي، بمـا فـي ذلـك حـق البنـاء علـى أو داخـل أو توسـعة أى حوائـط حدوديـة بالعيـن؛ و
- (٦) لأمــر يتعلــق بحــق الاســتعمال أو الحقــوق الأخــرى المشــار إليهــا فــي البنــد ٣-٢-٥ والبنــدـ ٣-٢-٢ (ضمنا) من الجزء الثانى هــــذا.
- ٣-١-٦ إن الحقوق التي نص عليها البند ٣-٦ (١) إلى(٦) (ضمناً) مـن هـذا الجزء الثاني ينصرف القصد مـن ممارستها إلـى ضمـان تقييد حـالات الإزعاج بقدر مـا يمكـن، وأن يكـون الدخـول إلـى العيـن بالقدر الممكـن ودون إعاقـة غيـر ملائمـة، ومـن ناحيـة أخـرى فسـيتم ممارسـتها دون دفـع أي تعويـض عـن أي إزعـاج، أو مضايقـة، أو أضرار يتعـرض لهـا المسـتأجر علـى أن تكـون ممارسـة المالـك (أو أي شـخص آخر يدخـل العيـن علـى هـذا النحـو) لحقـه بأسـلوب مناسـب وأن يصلح مـا سـببه مـن أضـرار علـى العيـن ودون الطـاء غــر معقـول؛
- ٣-٢-٣ يتمتع المالك بحقه المطلق في ممارسة أي صلاحيات تمنحه اياهـا القوانيـن واللوائح الاتحاديـة والمحلىة؛
- ٣-٢-٤ للمالـك الحـق الكامـل فـي الدخـول والمـرور الحـر للمرافـق وخدمـات الاتصـالات وأي خدمـات أو إمــدادات أخـرى عــن طريــق أى أنابيب أو أســلاك فــى أو تحــت أو علــى العيــن حاليـا أو مســتقبلا؛
- ٣-٦-٥ للمالك الحق الكامـل في ملكية ومنفعة خطـوط الأنابيب والمرافق، والمعـدات، والتركيبـات القائمـة وغيرهـا مـن الممتلـكات الواقعـة فـى أو تحـت أو علـى أو فـوق العيـن عـلاوة علـى حـق الانتفـاع

القيمة الإيجارية للتجديد عند تاريخ الانتهاء، فيتعين على المستأجر إخلاء وتسليم العين للمالك في تاريخ الانتهاء مع الالتزام الصارم بالمتطلبات التي يقتضيها عقد الإيجار هـذا.

ا-٤ إذا وجه المستأجر إخطارا للمالك بعدم رغبته في تجديد عقد الإيجار وفقا لأحكام المادة ١-٢ من الجزء الثاني هـذا ، أو إذا وجه المالك إخطارا للمستأجر بعـدم رغبته في تجديد عقد الإيجار فعلى المستأجر إخلاء وتسليم العيـن للمالـك فـي تاريخ الانتهاء مـع الالتـزام الصـارم بالمتطلبـات التـي يقتضيها عقد الإيجار.

ا-0 في حالة عدم توجيه المستأجر إخطارا للمالك بعدم رغبته في تجديد عقد الإيجار، وتعذر عندها الاتفاق على القيمـة الإيجارية الجديدة أو الشـروط والأحـكام المبينـة في البنـد ا-٣ مـن الجـزء الثاني بحلـول تاريخ الانتهاء و/أو بقي المستأجر في العين مـع إيعاز المالـك لـه بعدم تجديد عقد الإيجار، فإن المستأجر يوافـق علـى أن يدفـع للمالـك تعويضـا يعـادل ١٥٠٪ (مائـة وخمسـون بالمائـة) مـن آخـر قيمـة إيجاريـة (وذلـك دون إخـلال بحـق المالـك فـي طلـب حيـازة العيـن أو اتخـاذ أي إجـراء قانونـي) إلـى جانـب رسـوم الخدمـة المسـتحقة والمبينـة فـي عقد الإيجـار، ويسـتحق هـذا المبلـغ بشـكـل شـهري ومقدمـا، وتسـتحق الدفعـة الأولـى فـى تاريخ الإنهـاء.

## ٢. القيمة الإيجارية

يدفع المستأجر للمالك القيمـة الإيجاريـة خـلال مـدة الإيجـار وبالأسـلوب والمبالـغ المبينـة بعقـد الإيجـار والشـروط والأحـكام المعياريـة.

# ۳. العين

٣-ا لقاء إجمالي القيمة الإيجارية التي يدفعها المستأجر، وما يؤديه ويتقيد به من الالتزامات الـواردة بعقـد الإيجار، فإن المالـك يوافق علـى أن يؤجـر العيـن للمسـتأجر ويوافق الأخيـر علـى اسـتئجارها مـن المالـك وفقا لشـروط وأحـكام عقد الإيجار ومـا يلـى مـن حقـوق انتفاع واسـتعمال:

٣-١-١ كامـل حقـوق وحريـات الـمسـتأجر فـي اسـتخدام والتمتـع بالعيـن، هـو وعملائه، ومقاوليـه، ومورديه، وموظفيـه، وزائريـه، والحاصليـن علـى تراخيصـه، مـع الـمراعـاة الدائمـة لشـروط وأحكـام عقـد الإيجار

٣-١-٦ حق تمرير الكهرباء، والماء، والتربة، والصرف، والهواء، والدخان أو غير ذلك من وسائل تمرير الهواء، ومن العين من خلال البالوعات، والمواسير، ووحدات الصرف، والمصارف، وأنابيب التوصيل، وأخاديد التصريف، والقنوات، والممرات، ومسالك التهوية، وأنابيب ومجاري الماء (ان وجد) بحيث تمر على مدار أو من خلال أو على أو فوق أو تحت العين؛

٣-١-٣ حق المرور على الطرق والممرات إلى العين في جميع الأوقات؛

"رسوم الخدمة" تعني: مساهمة المستأجر (إن وجد) في التكاليف والمصروفات التشغيلية العامة التبي يتكبدها المالك أو تصبح مستحقة عليه بيين حيين وآخر تجاه العيين والمناطق المشتركة وتستحق الدفع خلال مدة الإيجار الـواردة بعقد الإيجار؛

**"الشروط والأحكام المعيارية"** تعني: الشروط والأحكام المعيارية التي تمثل جزءا من عقد الإيجار؛

"خدمات الاتصالات" تعنى: خدمات الهاتف، أو الفاكس أو غيرها من وسائل الاتصال

"المستأجر" يعني: المستأجر الموصوف في عقد الإيجار ويشـمل هـذا المعنـى خلفـه أو مـن يتنـازل لهـم علـى نحـو مقبـول؛

"إجمالي القيمة الإيجارية" تعني: قيمة الإيجار وأي رسوم خدمة نصت عليها عقد الإيجار والمستحقة الدفع أثناء مـدة الإيجار (وأي تمديـد لهـا وفقـا لأحـكام المـادة ٢ مـن الجـزء الثانـي مـن هــذه الشــروط والأحـكام المعياريـة)؛

"منافع عامه" وتعني اي الكهرباء ، او الماء ، او الماء المبرد ، او الغاز او مياه ساخنة للمطاعم ، المقاهي "الرسوم المدنية" تعني: أي رسوم مدنية مستحقة على المستأجر للمالك بموجب اتفاقية الإيجار؛

"الاعمال المدنية" يعني: إنجاز أي أعمال يقوم بها المستأجر وفقا لكافة متطلبات الجهات المعنية وبالشكل الذي يرضى المالك.

# الجــزء الثانـــي: الشــروط والأحــكـام العامــة الســارية علـــى كـافــة عقــود الإيجــار

# ا. تاريخ البدء، والانتهاء والتجديد

I-I ايتعيــن علـــى المســتأجر توجيــه إخطــار خطــي للمالــك قبــل (٦) سـتة أشـهر علـى األقـل مــن تاريــخ االنتهاء إذا كانـت العيـن المؤجرة قطعة أرض و قبــل (٣) ثالثة أشــهر علــى األقل مــن تاريـخ االنتهاء فــي حالــة عــدم رغبــة المســتأجر فــي تجديــد عقــد اإليجـار. وإذا لــم يوجــه المســتأجر إخطــارا خطيـا للمالك بعـدم رغبتــه فــي تجديــد عقــد اإليجار فتســري عندهــا أحــكام البنـد ١،٢ مــن الجــزء الثاني هــذا. بـدون الإخال بالبنـود ١،٢ و ١،٢ مـن الجــزء الثاني هــذا بيخون الإخال بالبنـود عقــد اإليجـار أو تأخـر بتوجيـه هــذا اإلخطــار، فإنـه يتعين على المســتأجر أن يدفع للمالك بالإلضافة إـلـى غراـمة تعادل القيـمة اإليجار ية المستحقة عن ثالثة أـشهـر

I-1 فـي حال عدم رغبة المستأجر بتجديـد عقـد الإيجار، يتعيــن علــيه توجيــه إخطــار خطـي للمالـك قبــل (٦) سـتة أشـهر علـى الأقـل مــن تاريــخ الانتهاء إذا كانت العين المؤجرة قطعة أرض وقبـل (٣) ثلاثة أشــهر علــى الأقل مــن تاريــخ الانتهاء إذا كانت العين المؤجرة غير ذلك. وإذا لــم يوجـه المســتأجر إخطــارا خطيــا للمالـك بعدم رغبتـه فــى تجديـد عقــد الإيجار، فتســرى عندهــا أحـكام البنــد ١٠، مــن الجــزء الثانى هــذا

ا-٣ في حالة عدم توجيه المستأجر للإخطار الخطي للمالك على النحو المبين بالبند ١- ٢ من الجزء ٢ الحالي بعدم رغبته في تجديد عقد الإيجار، فإن عقد الإيجار يجدد لمدة مماثلة بنفس الشروط والأحكام أو بشروط وأحكام مختلفة، وبقيمة إيجارية يُتفق عليها على ألا تقل القيمة الإيجارية بأي حال من الأحوال عن آخر قيمة إيجارية مدفوعة قبل تاريخ الانتهاء. وإذا تعذر اتفاق الطرفين على

# الشروط والأحكام المعيارية

تمثل هذه الشروط والأحكام المعيارية إلى جانب نموذج عقد الإيجار الشروط التي تؤجر سلطة المنطقة الحرة بمطار دبى ("المالك") العين للمستأجر المحدد بتفاصيل الإيجار.

وإذا وقع أي تعارض بين الشروط والأحكام المعيارية وبين عقد الإيجار فإن عقد الايجار هو الذي يسود.

تنقسم هذه الشروط والأحكام المعيارية إلى خمسة أجزاء:

- أ) الجزء الأول: تعريفات؛
- (ب) الجزء الثانى: الشروط والأحكام العامة السارية على كافة الإيجارات؛
- (ج) الجـزء الثالـث: الشــروط والأحــكام المعياريـة الإضافيـة الســارية علــى كافــة إيجـارات المســتودعات، والمكاتــــ، ومنافــــة الأغفـــة والمشــروبات، ووحــدات التخزـــن؛
- (د) الجزء الرابع: الشروط والأحكام المعيارية الإضافية للأغذية والمشروبات والتي تسري على كافة إيجارات منافذ الأغذية والمشروبات بالإضافة إلى الشروط والأحكام المعيارية العامة؛ و
- (ه) الجـزء الخامـس: الشـروط والأحـكام المعيارية الإضافية للأراضـي السـارية علـى كافـة إيجـارات قطـع. الأراضـى بالإضافـة إلـى الشـروط والأحـكام المعياريـة والعامـة.

# الجزء الأول: تعريفات

سـيكون للمصطلحات التالية المسـتخدمة فـي هـذه الشـروط والأحـكام المعياريـة المعانـي المبينـة قريـن كل منهـا. أمـا المصطلحـات الـتـي لــم يــرد لهـا تعريـف فـي هــذه الشــروط والأحـكام المعياريـة، فسـيكـون لهـا المعانـى المبينـة فـى عقـد الإيجـار:

"المبنى" يعني: المبنى إن وجد- المحدد في عقد الإيجار، والذي تشكل العين جزءا منه، ويشير إلى كل وأي جزء من المبنى، وموقف (مواقف) السيارات، ومنطقة (مناطق) التحميل، وطريق (طرق) الخدمة، وكافة المناطق الأخرى، والتي يعتبر استخدامها والتمتع بها تابعا للمبنى، سواء كانت ضمن هيكل المبنى أم لا. وإذا كان الأمريتعلق بقطعة أرض، فيجب أن يُعبر عن المبنى بـ "لا ينطبق" في عقد الإيجار؛

**"القيمة الإيجارية"** تعني: القيمة الإيجارية (بدون أي رسوم خدمات) والمبينة في عقد الإيجار؛

"السلطة المختصة" تعنـي: أي جهـة حكوميـة أو شـبه حكوميـة ذات سـلطة علـى أي مـن الأمـور بالمنطقـة الحـرة بمطـار دبـى؛

	الشروط والأحكام المعيارية الإضافية السارية على كافة عقود	الجزء الخامس:
רז	إيجار قطع الأراضي	
۲٦	المساحات المفتوحة والتشجير	
۲٦	الخدمات	٦.
۲V	اعمال الديكور والتصميم الداخلى	۳.
۲V	التسليم والإصلاحات في نهاية مدة الإيجار	3.
۲۸		
۲۹	التنازل عن الإيجار من الباطن	٦.
۳.	مراجعة القيمة الإيجارية	٠٧.
۳,	مباشرة الأعمال	۸.
۳۱	تكاليف رسوم الخدمات	
۳۱	التجديد	
۳۱	·     . رسوم الخدمة	٦.
۳۱	تسديد قيمة الإيجار	۳.
۳۲	التأمين	3.
۳۲	بدء العمل	
۳۲	أدكام عامة	.1
μμ	تكاليف رسوم الخدمات	سابعا الجزء :
۳۳		
۳۳	- الوحدات الصناعية الخفيفة (LIU)	n.
۳٤	ضريبة القيمة المضافة	الجزء الثامن :

# المحتويات

الجزء الأول:	تعريفات	3
الجزء الثاني:	الشروط والأحكام العامة السارية على كافة عقود الإيجار	
	تاريخ البدء، والانتهاء والتجديد	
٦.	القيمة الإيجارية	
۳.	العين	
3.	التزامات المالك	٨
	التزامات المستأجر	٨
٦.	إنهاء عقد الإيجار	רו
٠٧.	تبعات إنهاء عقد الإيجار	IV
۸.	أحكام عامة	IV
الجزء الثالث:	الشروط والأحكام الإضافية النافذة على كافة عقود إيجار المستودعات،	
	والمكاتب، ومنافذ الأغذيّة والمشروبات، ووحدات التخُزين	۱٦
	الخدمات	۱٦
٦.	الخدمات وخدمات الاتصالات	۱۱
۳.	التسليم والإصلاحات فى نهاية مدة الإيجار	۱۱
3.		۲۳
	الإنشاءات والتعديلات	۲۳
٦.	التنازل والإيجار من الباطن	31
٠٧.	مواقف السيارات المحجوزة	Lo
الحزء الرابع:	الشروط والأحكام المعيارية الاضافية للأغذية والمشروبات	٥٦



# الشروط والأحكام **المعيارية للإيجار**